
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

Meeting 
Friday, October 8, 2021 
Zoom Video Conference 

(refer to Meeting Link in Outlook invite) 

OPEN SESSION:  1:00 p.m. – 2:30 p.m. 

AGENDA 

1. Welcome and Adoption of Agenda D. Cooper Burger, Chair
Declaration of Conflicts of Interest (if any) (1:00 p.m.) 

“The Board respectfully acknowledges that we are on the treaty and traditional territory of 
the Mississauga Anishinaabeg. We offer our gratitude to First Peoples for their care for, and 
teachings about, our earth and our relations. May we honour those teachings.” 

2. Consent Agenda D. Cooper Burger
(1:02 p.m.) 

Draft motion: 
That the Consent Agenda be approved [as presented or as amended] 

2.1. Approval of Minutes 
Open Session, June 25, 2021 (for approval) (pg. 3)

2.2. Financial Update 
Report (for information) (pg. 8)

2.3. Capital Projects Update 
Report (for information) (pg. 14)

2.4. Housing Capital Development Update 
Report (for information) (pg. 23)

2.5. Investment Performance Summary (Pension) – Q2 
Report (for information) (pg. 28)

2.6. Investment Performance Endowment/SRI Fund – Q2 
Report (for information) (pg. 36)

2.7. Annual Report on Distribution from the Endowment Fund 
Report (for information) (pg. 47)

3. Chair’s Remarks D. Cooper Burger
(1:05 p.m.) 

4. President’s Report L. Groarke
(1:10 p.m.)

4.1. COVID-19 – Status Update
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5. 2020-2021 Audited Financial Statements  J. Smith
Report & Draft Financial Statements (for approval) (pg. 50) (1:30 p.m.) 

Draft motion: 
That the Board of Governors approve the Trent University Audited Financial 
Statements for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2021.  

6. Preliminary Report from Working Group J. Smith / (A) VP T. Al-Idrissi
on Endowment Fund Strategy (1:40 p.m.) 
Report (for approval) (pg. 98)

Draft motion:
That the Board of Governors approve the asset mix as presented and approval 
to proceed with the search for the necessary managers, whose ESG expertise 
will be considered.

7. Meeting Adjournment D. Cooper Burger
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Board of Governors 
Minutes of the Meeting – Open Session 

Video Conference, June 25, 2021 

Present:  A. La Barge (Chair), D. Cooper Burger, B. Cowie, G. Cubitt, R. Dart, P. Dilworth, 
C. Gray, L. Groarke, F. Imana, R. Jacobson, M. Keefer, D. Kirk, J. McKenna, R. Porter,
S. Rafi, K. Scaldwell, S. Sinclair, A. Slepkov, J. Smith, (Vice-President Communications
& Enrolment) M. Burns, (Acting Vice-President, Research & Innovation) C. Bruce, (Vice-
President, External Relations & Advancement) J. Davis, (Provost & Vice-President,
Academic) M. Khan, (Vice-President, Finance & Administration) K. Stringham, (Vice-
President, Human Resources) S. Williams, (Associate Vice-President, Information
Technology) T. Al-Idrissi, (Associate Vice-President, Finance) C. Turk, (University
Secretary) K. Spearing, R. Hall (Recording Secretary).

Regrets: C. Bonello 

 [The Secretary confirms that quorum was present for this meeting.] 

1. Welcome and Adoption of Agenda.  The Chair called the open session of the
meeting to order at 1:02 p.m. and welcomed guests in attendance. Hearing no
amendments to the agenda it was moved/seconded (Cubitt/Keefer),

That the Board approve the agenda as presented.  Carried 

2. Declarations of Conflict of Interest.  None declared.

3. Consent Agenda.  It was moved/seconded (Dart/Kirk),

That the consent agenda be approved as presented.  Carried 

3.1 Approval of Minutes.  The Open Session of May 7, 2021 was approved as 
presented. 

3.2 Annual Report on Quality Assurance. Received for information. 
3.3 Investment Performance Review (Q1) 

a) Pension Funds. Received for information.
b) Endowment Fund/Endowment Lands Fund. Received for information.

3.4 Capital Projects Update. Received for information. 

4. Chair’s Remarks.  The Chair reported that in the Board’s closed session that
morning, administration presented a financial update projection, subject to year-end
final adjustments and audit. While Trent, similar to sector institutions, expected a
significant negative impact on its enrolment and revised its financial forecast for the
2020-2021 fiscal year, in-year enrolment gains were 4.6% over budget. Ancillary
losses and COVID related investments and expenses were significant, but were
approximately $1M less than anticipated over the course of the year. One-time
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provincial COVID relief funding of $5.9M and late receipt of other special grants also 
contributed to an estimated year-end surplus of approximately $5.8M.  

With the addition of unspent appropriations carried forward from 2019-2020, a total of 
$14.9M would be available for one-time strategic investment. Following review, the 
Board approved a number of one-time strategic initiatives for 2021-2022 totaling 
$14.9M – including: Teaching and lab space investment, investments in the Centre 
for Teaching and Learning and online learning, research investments, IT 
infrastructure renewal, Infrastructure investments and enhancements for Trent lands, 
matching funding contribution for new Trent Enterprise Centre, deferred maintenance 
and upgrades to ancillary properties, retention investments (including international), 
and on-going COVID related investments. 

 The Chair acknowledged that this was the last meeting for Governors Cubitt and 
Imana, and himself. He further noted that Vice-President Stringham would be retiring 
as of August 1, 2021 and extended a welcome to incoming acting Vice-President Al-
Idrissi. 

 The Chair reported that he had attended Trent’s virtual convocation ceremonies on 
June 12, 2021. He extended congratulations to all graduates and honorary degree 
recipients. 

 
5. President’s Report.  President Groarke reflected on the tragic findings of unmarked 

graves at residential schools in British Columbia and Saskatchewan, noting that 
numerous statements and remembrance events were being held on campus. The 
President expressed his determination to continue on the path of reconciliation and to 
continue to make it a central part of what Trent does.  

The President provided an update on recent activities and developments, including: 

Retirements. The President thanked retiring governors and Vice-President 
Stringham for all of their contributions to the University. He further noted that former 
president Dr. Steven Franklin had an upcoming retirement from Trent following a 
return to research and the classroom. 

Funding Announcement. Trent recently received a funding boost of more than 
$900K from the Ministry of Colleges and Universities’ Virtual Learning Strategy.  
These funds will be used to further develop Trent’s remote and online learning 
options.  

United Way Campaign. The Trent Community raised $151K for the 2021 United 
Way Campaign, breaking records for both Trent and Peterborough. 

Enrolment. The President reported that accepts are up 9.4% overall at Trent, with an 
increase of 6.3% in Peterborough and 28.2% in Durham. Overall, the system was up 
1.9%. International accepts at Trent are up 21% year-over-year, whereas the system 
is down 15%; however international travel continued to be uncertain. Vice-President 
Burns reported that enrolment numbers were tracking towards the budget projections 
and that Trent was becoming increasingly popular as a first choice school. 
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Applications for the Durham residence were lower than anticipated; however various 
strategies were currently underway to increase occupancy. 

5.1 COVID-19 Update. The President reported that at the end of the term there were 
additional cases on the Symons campus which required quarantine; however now 
the campus was quiet with no students currently present and few staff and faculty. 
A positive meeting was recently held with the Chief Medical Officer of Ontario who 
was confident in universities’ being able to open in the fall for in-person teaching, 
emphasizing that vaccinations were key in this happening. Vaccination clinics 
have started on campus and will continue to be available for the Trent community. 

  
 Vice-President Williams reported that she had recently attended a meeting with 

Peterborough’s Chief Medical Officer of Health, Dr. Salvaterra, who commended 
Trent on its COVID management process over the past year and Trent’s decision 
to implement mandatory vaccines for students in residence. VP Williams reported 
that some concerns have been expressed from anti-vaccine protestors and 
parents and noted that medical and human rights exemptions were being 
managed. Trent’s COVID Management Team will continue to work with both the 
Peterborough and Durham health units as the fall term approaches. 

  
5.2 Annual Report on Sexual Violence. VP Williams recalled that the report on 

sexual violence was an annual report mandated by the government of Ontario 
highlighting data on Trent’s sexual violence prevention education, support for 
survivors, and the numbers of individual students supported. It also includes a 
summary of the activities of Trent’s Sexual Violence Task Force. 

 Associate Vice-President Robinson presented the report highlighting the 
orientation, education, and training efforts over the past year through an online 
model. Partnerships were formed in both Peterborough and Durham to provide 
additional counselling and training support, as a result of two $25K grants from 
the Centre for Innovations in Campus Mental Health Community Partnership. Staff 
were currently looking at ways to extend these partnerships beyond the initial 
funding. For the fall, orientation will be provided for both first- and second-year 
students to help them socialize safely after a year in lockdown. AVP Robinson 
noted that the Sexual Violence Policy was currently under review with 
consideration being given to replace the adjudication process with one more in 
line with the process for human rights cases. 

 The Board thanked AVP Robinson for this report and requested that future reports 
include year-over-year data and variances. Following discussion, it was 
moved/seconded (Cooper Burger/Cowie), 

  That the Board of Governors receive this report for information. 
Carried 

6. Annual Report on Indigenous Community Relations.  Vice-President Davis 
recalled the Board’s strategic objective of “Working collaboratively with our host 
communities, indigenous peoples, and with municipal, provincial, and federal 
governments.” and that in March of 2018 the Board approved an action plan as a 
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complement to the Senate Special Committee on Indigenous Education. The action 
plan was based on the four principles of recognition, respect, sharing, and 
responsibility. VP Davis invited Chief Emily Whetung, of Curve Lake, to make 
comments regarding the relationship between Curve Lake and Trent. 

Chief Whetung acknowledged the residential school graves recently uncovered and 
how her community was grieving, noting that residential schools were not ancient 
history. She stated that Trent has a history of ensuring the truth is preserved and not 
forgotten and that Curve Lake’s relationship with Trent has become the standard they 
share in all other relationships. Trent approaches Curve Lake with any potential 
projects at the earliest possible stage and works together to ensure projects reflect a 
mutual need. Chief Whetung expressed that Trent and Curve Lake have reached a 
point of meaningful consideration and have moved from being engaged to being 
understood. 

VP Davis characterized how Trent is putting the jointly developed protocol into action 
by highlighting the steps taken regarding the long-term care (LTC) facility. Trent is 
recognizing an opportunity as an institution to advance the calls of the Truth and 
Reconciliation report, to advance the knowledge of others, and to collaborate for 
better outcomes realizing each other’s aspirations. This relationship will continue to 
require investment and Trent will continue to do our best.  

It was moved/seconded (Dart/Cubitt), 

  That the Board of Governors receive this report for information. Carried 

7. Special Resolution II.5 - Revisions.  Governor Cubitt, as Chair of the Audit and 
Investment Committee, presented revisions to Special Resolution II.5 which 
establishes the investment policies and procedures for the University’s pension funds 
– including the TUFA pension plan, the OPSEU/Exempt pension plan, and the 
special investment fund. In anticipation of the pending transition of the TUFA pension 
plan to the new University Pension Plan (UPP) as of January 1, 2022, the committee 
is recommending that investment protocols relating to the TUFA pension plan be 
separated from the current combined investment policies and procedures as a set of 
stand-alone policies and procedures. No further revisions were being recommended 
at this time. 
 
It was moved/seconded (Cubitt/Smith), 
 

That the Board of Governors approve revisions to Special Resolutions II.5 – 
Pension Funds, that separates the TUFA Pension Plan and the 
OPSEU/Exempt Pension Plan/SIF into two separate policies, and 
associated revisions to the respective policies, as presented. Carried 
 

8. Out-of-Province Domestic Tuition Framework. Governor Cooper Burger, as Chair 
of the Finance and Property Committee, provided the Board with background on the 
issue of tuition and revenue for universities stating that government grants had been 
frozen for the past nine years and tuition in 2021 was lower than 2015 rates due to a 
reduction and subsequent freezes. Following on lobbying by the Council of Ontario 
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Universities (COU) for increased funding mechanisms the government announced 
that universities could increase tuition for out-of-province domestic students up to 3%. 
It was noted that this increase would not make a significant contribution to tuition 
revenue in the short-term; however there was concern that if the offer was not 
accepted following the extensive lobbying that it would send a message to the 
government that additional revenue was not truly needed. 
 
Following discussion, it was moved/seconded (Cooper Burger/Kirk), 
 

That the Board of Governors approve a 3% increase in tuition for new out-
of-province domestic students, effective for the 2021-2022 academic year. 
Carried 

 
9. Session Adjournment.  The open session of the meeting was adjourned at 2:28 

p.m. 

Karen Spearing       Armand La Barge 
University Secretary       Chair 
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Board Report 

Session:  Closed Session;  Open Session 
Action Requested:  Decision;  Discussion/Direction;  Information 

To:   Board of Governors 
Date:    October 8, 2021 
Presented by: Doug Kirk – Chair, Finance and Property Committee 

Leo Groarke – President & Vice-Chancellor 
Tariq Al-Idrissi, VP Finance and Administration (A) 

Subject:  Financial Update to July 31, 2021 

Committee/Board Mandate: 

The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring the financial health of the University 
and the proper management of its buildings, lands and capital projects.  The Finance & 
Property Committee assists the Board in carrying out these responsibilities by monitoring 
the institution’s financial, property and capital affairs and making related policy 
recommendations.  

In its finance role, the Committee monitors budget projections and debt levels and 
recommends operating, ancillary and capital budgets for the approval of the Board of 
Governors. It recommends levels of student fees, spending authority, loans and lines of 
credit for Board approval. The Committee makes recommendations to the Board for the 
approval of any contract or purchase the total value of which exceeds the level of 
spending established for the President. The Committee may make financial policy 
recommendations to the Board including but not limited to policies on tuition and ancillary 
fees, banking, borrowing and purchasing. It may make recommendations to the Board 
concerning fiscal planning, internal financial controls or other areas affecting the financial 
health or accountability of the University. The administration may consult with the 
Committee on the subjects for internal audits and provide follow-up reports. 

Motion for Consideration (if applicable): 

That the Finance and Property Committee and the Board of Governors receive updated 
information on Trent's financial operating performance. 

Executive Summary: 

The 2021/2022 Operating Plan conservatively estimated total enrolment would increase 
from the previous year by 1.3% to a total of 11,214 full-time equivalents (FTEs) (11,068 
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FTEs in 2020/2021) resulting in increased tuition revenues despite domestic tuition rates 
being frozen for the fiscal year.  With nominal strategic investments to address enrolment 
growth and other operating pressures, the Board-approved budget was essentially 
balanced.   

Preliminary enrolment is tracking at or slightly better than planned in the budget.  With the 
modified plan to return to in-person teaching and on-campus activities commencing with 
the Fall 2021 semester, the appropriation established by the University at April 30, 2021 
to address COVID-related expenses appears to be sufficient.  Therefore, the University 
does not have any reason to change its projections at this early time in the fiscal year; 
Trent continues to project a modest surplus of approximately $406,000. 

An overview of Trent's current financial position as of July 31, 2021 and projection to year-
end are attached.  These projections are subject to change once November 1 and 
February 1 final enrolment counts are completed and year-end adjustments are finalized. 

Analysis/Alternatives Considered: 

Year-to-Date Performance 

Cash and Cash Equivalents:  Cash on hand at July 31, 2021 was $41.5 million compared 
to $40.1 million in cash and short-term investments on the same date in 2020.  The cash 
balance at July 31, 2021 is comprised of approximately $20.5 million in restricted funds 
(externally funded trust, research and fundraising) and $21.0 million in unrestricted cash. 
This unrestricted balance represents approximately 1.3 times the normal total monthly 
cash requirements for the University.  Administration has not invested any excess cash 
on hand into short-term investments at this time as cash balances held in the bank are 
earning more interest (0.7%) than investments that meet the criteria of the University’s 
short-term cash management policy.  

Operating Results:  The year-to-date budget is estimated by prorating the annual budget 
based on last year’s actual performance to date and other seasonality factors.  The year-
to-date actual financial performance indicates a favourable variance as at July 31, 2021 
due primarily to timing as most salaries and non-staff expenses are incurred during the 
fall and winter terms. Cost recoveries are favourable due to the timing of Advanced 
Qualification courses.  

Actual results are subject to change once enrolment numbers are finalized November 1st 
and February 1st and year-end adjustments and approved appropriations are determined.  
As per past practice, all departments may request to carry forward any unspent budgets 
for future strategic initiatives; these requests are considered closer to the fiscal year-end. 

Year-end Projection 

Enrolment Projections and Net Tuition Revenue:  The 2021/2022 Operating Plan 
conservatively estimated total enrolment would increase from 11,068 the previous year 
to a total of 11,214 FTEs, a 1.3% overall increase.  Based on the most current update 
September 15, 2021, enrolment is tracking to be at or slightly better than planned although 
it is still too early to adjust net tuition revenue projections.  Summer 2021 undergraduate 
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enrolment grew compared to last summer. Fall 2021 undergraduate registration is steady 
and graduate registration is strong.  Durham enrolment is also well ahead of the pace last 
year.  Despite continued uncertainty regarding international enrolment, early indications 
predict impressive growth in Trent’s international student population.  As expected with 
the return to primarily in-person instruction, online course registrations are down 
considerably, and preliminary retention rates are tracking lower than 2020.  Fall 2021 
enrolment will not be finalized until November 1, 2021, at which time enrolment 
projections and corresponding net tuition revenue projections will be adjusted.   

Operating Expenses:  The majority of the University’s operating expenses are incurred 
during the Fall 2021 and Winter 2022 academic terms.  At this early date, senior 
administration is not aware of any significant changes to planned operating expenses that 
would warrant an adjustment to the budget.  The appropriation to address COVID-related 
expenditures and ancillary services revenue impairment appears to be sufficient to avoid 
impacting the operating budget.  Therefore, no changes to the Board-approved operating 
budget have been made at this time.  

The University continues to project an essentially balanced operating position consistent 
with the Board-approved budget which indicated a nominal operating surplus of $406,000. 

Financial Implications: 

Enrolment:  The key driver for the University’s revenue is student enrolment.  Senior 
Administration continues to closely monitor enrolment since undergraduate and graduate 
registration commenced.  While it remains too early to adjust the budgeted projections, 
enrolment has been stronger than anticipated.   

If higher enrolment is achieved, tuition revenue net of scholarships and financial aid will 
increase thereby improving the University’s financial position.  To put the potential impact 
into perspective, every increase of 1% in undergraduate domestic FTEs (about 100 FTEs) 
provides approximately $500,000 in additional net tuition revenue, while an increase of 
1% in undergraduate international FTEs (about 10 FTEs) generates approximately 
$227,000 in additional net tuition revenue.  Changes in graduate FTEs have similar 
impacts:  an increase of 1% in graduate domestic FTEs (about 5 FTEs) generates 
$25,000 and an increase of 1% in graduate international FTEs (about 2 FTEs) provides 
$13,000 more net tuition revenue. 

Pandemic:  Another major factor that may impact the operating forecast in 2021/2022 is 
the continued costs associated with the ongoing pandemic.  The 2021/2022 Board 
approved budget excluded any provision for COVID-related costs.  However, the Board 
approved the establishment of an appropriation in the amount of $2.875 million at April 
30, 2021 to address the estimated impact of COVID beyond the funding provided by the 
Ministry.  This appropriation included estimated costs related to maintaining health and 
safety protocols, additional online/remote course offerings in Fall 2021, and ancillary 
revenue impairment.  

With the required modifications to the plan for the return to in-person teaching and on-
campus activities, senior administration is carefully tracking all COVID-related expenses. 
While costs associated with maintaining the ever-changing health and safety protocols 
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and providing on-site testing, etc. are tracking slightly higher than predicted, the impact 
on ancillary services revenues is less than expected.  For example, the appropriation 
included a provision for the Durham residence guarantee assuming a 35% occupancy. 
Current occupancy is at approximately 50%, thereby reducing the previously-estimated 
guarantee obligation.  At this time, senior administration believes the established 
appropriation is sufficient to cover the COVID-related expenses for this fiscal year. 

Enterprise Risk Assessment: 

The financial health of the University is paramount to the University's overall success and 
ability to fulfill its academic mandate and meet student expectations.  Monitoring in-year 
financial performance against the approved budget is critical to ensuring well-informed 
decision making regarding the allocation and use of limited resources, and mitigating 
strategies if financial loss is anticipated. 

Next Steps: 

The next financial update will be provided at the next Finance and Property meeting on 
November 16, 2021.  At that time, enrolment projections will be based on final November 
1st enrolment counts. 

Alignment with Mission, Vision, Values, Strategic Plan: 

To fulfill their responsibilities, Governors should be informed of the University's financial 
situation.  Regular financial updates will maintain Governors' awareness of the 
University's current financial status, and allow for input and oversight where needed. 
Such updates also allow for in-year decisions for strategic investments if possible, or 
mitigation strategies as necessary in alignment with Trent's mission to "foster 
sustainability, in its environmental, social and economic dimensions, on our campuses 
and in all aspects of our work" and Trent's Strategic Plan for "financial sustainability: 
exploring all means necessary to securing a healthy financial future". 

Compliance with Policy/Legislation: 

Complying with a Board of Governors directive, the full Board will receive regular financial 
updates, through the Finance and Property Committee. 

Supporting Reference Materials (attached): 

The following analyses are attached: 
Appendix A:  Cash Position for the period ending July 31, 2021 
Appendix B:  2021/2022 Operating Budget Projection as at July 31, 2021 
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Appendix A – Cash Position for the Period Ending July 31, 2021 
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Appendix B: 
Trent University 

2021-22 Operating Budget Projection 
($000s) 

As of July 31, 2021 

2020/21 
YTD 

ACTUAL 

2020/21 
BOARD-

APPROVED 
ANNUAL 
BUDGET 

2020/21 
ANNUAL 

PROJECTION 

ANTICIPATED 
ANNUAL 

VARIANCES 

REVENUE 
Government grants  $13,402  $54,925  $54,925  $-   
Tuition fees  10,104  93,433  93,433  -   
Miscellaneous revenue  75  846  846  -   
TOTAL REVENUE  $23,581  $149,204  $149,204  $-    

EXPENSES  
Instructional staff  $13,178  $73,768  $73,768  $-   
Non-instructional staff  10,186  49,006  49,006  -   
Student financial aid  632  11,356  11,356  -   
Non-staff expense  6,626  25,638  25,638  -   
Total expense  $30,622  $159,768  $159,768  $-    

Cost recoveries  (4,620)  (10,261)  (10,261)  -   
TOTAL NET EXPENSE  $26,002  $149,507  $149,507  $-    

EXCESS OF EXPENSE OVER REVENUE  $(2,421)  $(303)  $(303)  $-    

Change in appropriations & endowment transfers   4,167  709  709  -    

ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) for University Operations  $1,746  $406  $406  $-   
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Board Report 

Session:       Closed Session;  Open Session 
Action Requested: Decision;  Discussion/Direction;  Information 
To:  Board of Governors 
Date:  October 8, 2021 
Presented by: Doug Kirk - Chair, Finance & Property Committee 

Tariq Al-Idrissi - Vice President, Finance & Administration (A) 
Subject: Capital Projects Update 

Committee/Board Mandate: 
The Committee is responsible for the overall monitoring of campus capital building 
programs, stewardship of heritage assets, and makes recommendations to the Board of 
Governors for the approval of revisions to the Master Plan (siting of new facilities), the 
appointment of architects, final building designs, and major construction contracts. 

Motion for Consideration (if applicable): 
That the Board of Governors receive the Capital Projects Update as information. 

Executive Summary: 
With major new builds in Durham and on the Symons campus now occupied by students, 
faculty and staff, progress on capital renovations continues.  The increased provincial 
funding via the Facilities Renewal Program and the approved carryover/appropriation to 
capital projects, a promising 2021/2022 emerges with respect to capital infrastructure 
assets.  

Discussion: 
The following provides an update with respect to capital projects recently completed or 
currently underway: 

Facilities Renewal Program (FRP - 2021) 
The 20/21 FRP project is well underway with a total value of $2,010,000. Trent’s share of 
the project cost is $82,200. Trent’s FRP allocation in previous years has averaged 
approximately $800k per year. The Ministry clearly states that the FRP funding is intended 
to supplement postsecondary institutions’ own programs that address the ongoing need 
for the maintenance, repair, renovation and modernization of existing facilities.  

Project status updates are provided in Table 1 below. Although the pandemic has now 
become part of our regular routines, it is important to note that it continues to have an 
impact on our project cost and timelines.  
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Table 1 – Facilities Renewal Program Detailed Project List – 20/21 
FRP 2021 PROJECTS   Building Name Estimate Status 
AODA Improvements Symons Campus 

various buildings 
$70,000  Design 

Traill Exterior stairs & 
pathways 

Traill College Exterior $75,000 Deferred to 21/22 
program due to 
potential 
Government Grant/ 
Fall-Winter tender 

Durham Landscape 
Cleanup of recent 
property acquisitions 

Exterior Durham 
Campus 

$50,000  Construction (90% 
complete) 

OCA roof over Wenjack 
lecture hall 

Otonabee College 
Academic 

$516,000 Construction (90% 
complete) 

Science Complex roof 
over lecture hall 137 
waterproofing   

Science Complex $160,000  Construction (90% 
complete) 

Lady Eaton Commons 
Academic Roof (partial) 

Lady Eaton College 
Commons Academic 

825,000 Complete 

Champlain College 
Commons roofs (partial) 

Champlain College 
Academic 

$320,000  Construction (90% 
complete) 

Durham Parking and 
Exterior Landscaping 

Exterior Durham 
Campus 

$16,000 Scheduled Sept/Oct 

Wenjack Exterior 
Walkway 

Otonabee College 
Academic 

$34,000 Scheduled Sept/Oct 

Science Exterior 
Walkway 

Science Complex $15,000 Scheduled Sept/Oct 

Bata Exterior Walkway 
(Treaty Rock Site) 

Bata Library $10,000 90% Complete 
 

Total $2,016,000    
FRP2021 Grant $1,933,800   
Institution 
Contribution 

 $82,200  
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Facilities Renewal Program (FRP – 2021/2022) 
The province has announced the next intake of FRP funding to all institutions. Trent 
University has once again received an increased amount totaling $1,933,800 for this 
round of asset renewals.   

The criteria for the program includes the following parameters: 
Report Due Date  Milestone  Payment  
August 31, 2021  Approval of Initial Report  50% of allocation  
October 29, 2021  Approval of Interim Report  Remaining 50% of allocation  
April 29, 2022 activity up to March 31, 2022 Capture actual expenditures 

To capitalize on the recent, and possibly temporary, increased funding, we have opted to 
focus the majority of efforts on large scale projects that further protect underlying assets. 

Projects proposed for the 21/22 program are provided in Table 2 below. 

Table 2 - Facilities Renewal Program Detailed Project List – 21/22 
FRP 2021/22  

DRAFT POTENTIAL PROJECTS 
Building Name Estimate 

AODA improvements Symons Campus various 
buildings 

$70,000  

Various roof and skylight 
replacements and repairs* 

(Attachment 1 – possible projects) 

Various Buildings $1,613,800 

Mechanical and electrical 
replacements and repairs 

(Attachment 1 – possible projects) 

Various Buildings $200,000  

Refreshing of run-down washrooms 
in academic and common areas.  

Otonabee College Academic $50,000 

Traill Exterior stairs & pathways Traill College Exterior $150,000  
Total $2,083,800  

FRP2021 Grant $1,933,800 
Institution Contribution  $150,000 

*Note: winter construction can possibly alter project scope 

Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) 
Initial delivery dates for the Tesla batteries were slated for Q2 2022 and later accelerated 
to Feb 2022.  We have subsequently increased and advanced the initial US dollar 
payment to Tesla in May 2021 and benefited in two ways;  1) took advantage of currency 
rate fluctuations and bought US dollars at the lowest rate in 3 years avoiding 
approximately $50,000 in costs and 2) accelerated the delivery time to Dec 2021.   

With planning and design nearing completion, it is expected that the physical installation 
of assets will now begin in November.  There has been a further delay on various 
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components due to COVID, however the project is scheduled for completion in March 
2022.  

Included in the project will be the $1.9M in priority switchgear projects (Attachment 2) 
identified in the Capital Rehabilitation and Renewal (CRR) list presented to the Finance 
and Property Committee in November 2020. Preliminary designs for various components 
are either complete or ongoing by Ameresco.  Completion of this component of the project 
is expected to be Q2 2022. 

Trent will continue to keep a close eye on material and delivery times, however, it appears 
that the trend for construction material costs is escalating and material delivery lead times 
are getting longer. 

Riverbank Erosion Assessment and Design 
Previously identified as a priority project, stage 1 of the riverbank project has commenced.  
The initial stage included the assessment of the existing infrastructure and soil stability 
analysis behind the riverbank retaining walls.  Conceptual drawings have been completed 
(Attachment 3) with community engagement to follow in this Fall. The final design and 
agency approvals are expected to progress over the winter.   

The consultant has provided three potential replacement wall structures within the report 
and has recommended armour stone as the preferred alternative. Although the project 
will have various hurdles to overcome due to environmental factors, the site provides 
interesting possibilities for land-water interactions.  

Durham Property Acquisition Renovations 
Since the final acquisition in November of 2020, Trent has completed initial cleanup of 
the grounds that had clearly been neglected for some time. The work ensured the safety 
and security of our growing campus and displaced unwanted outdoor activity that was 
taking pace to move off our grounds.  

Since November of 2020, enrollment and staffing have increased substantially in Durham. 
With the need for additional teaching and office space, the Dean and Head of Durham as 
well as the Director Academic Program and Campus Operations have asked that we 
utilize the structures for institutional space as opposed to rentals.  This alleviated some 
of the costs associated with renting space in the adjacent recreational facility from the 
City of Oshawa. 

Balancing the needs of our growing campus against the ultimate unknown fate of the King 
St dwellings is a ‘crystal ball’ exercise. Based on recent discussions with Metrolinx and 
the Region of Durham for the Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project, the newly acquired 
facilities can likely operate for a minimum of 5 years without impacts due to the BRT. 
Small investments are being made to convert residential living space to office space.   
Additional dollars and larger scale changes are being made to the main campus building 
to support exam space and print/post operations required in the foreseeable future.  
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Ongoing Small Scale Capital Projects 
• Extended Athletics Scoreboard – Nov 2021 
• Outdoor Donor Wall – Fall 2021 
• Chemistry Lab – Spring/Summer 2022 
• Nursing Renovation – Fall 2021 

Future Capital Projects 
On the horizon, the University has multiple major capital projects tied into various ongoing 
processes such as the Trent Lands Plan and Cleantech Commons. Projects looking 
forward include: 

• Grounds Operation Facility Relocation (pending land plan priorities) 
• Infrastructure Asset Condition Inspection and Rating 
• Traill Amphitheatre (value engineering currently underway) 
• Experiential Farms Relocation Costs and Associated Infrastructure 
• Potential Servicing of Seniors Village via LTC project 

Financial Implications: 
• The Riverbank Erosion issue continues to show signs of immediate need.  

Additional sections of the riverbank have eroded, potentially placing infrastructure 
at risk. Construction funding 50% secured. 

• Additional funding may be required by the University to complete non-eligible 
components of the FRP projects. 

• Traill campus Amphitheatre requires further funding assurances to proceed to 
construction. 

• Investment required for recently acquired Durham Properties 
• Costs associated to service Experimental Farms 
• Capital planning for future projects. 

Enterprise Risk Assessment: 
Exceeding capital budgets and postponing or delivering projects late can result in 
additional financial pressures or negative reputational impacts.  

The Riverbank Erosion project is requiring more immediate attention. Tentative Timeline: 
• Design Approvals Fall/Winter 2021/22 – Dependent on agency turnaround 
• Tender – Spring/Summer 2022 
• Construction – multiyear construction required based on environmental 

components and navigable season for Trent Severn Waterway 2022/23 

Next Steps: 
1. Continue to develop Infrastructure Asset Condition Inspection and Rating 
2. Project completion and project development. 
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Consultation: 
• The Datatel Financial system 
• VFA Facilities Database 
• Web Work Order system 
• Contractor Progress Billings 
• Heritage Committee 

• Asset Condition Reports 
• Trent Lands and Nature Areas 

Report 
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Attachment 1 – Possible Roof and Mechanical/Electrical Projects 
Roof Projects: 

• Great Hall 
• Champlain Common (Approx. $300k) 
• LHS ($1M) 
• Wenjack ($120k) 
• Otonabee College Commons ($275k) 
• DNA ($1.2M) 

Mechanical/Electrical 
• Replacement of Siemens MEC Panels (Gzowski Academic and DNA A/B) - 

$206,440 (Not on VFA Priority List however this is a significant operational need.  
• Replacement of BH Mixing/VAV Boxes - $125k 
• Replacement of BH Control System - $550k 
• BH – Arc Flash Study - $25k 
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Attachment 2 - Priority Switchgear Projects 
1. Champlain MV (Magnablast) – 13.8kV switchgear that routes power to the 

entire campus 
2. Champlain 600V switchgear (2nd Flr – Electrical rm) 
3. Lady Eaton 600V Switchgear 
4. Otonabee 600V Switchgear 
5. ESS 600V Switchgear (1/2 – one section is fairly new) 
6. Science 600V Switchgear  
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Attachment 3 – Riverbank Erosion Project Concept Drawings 
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Board Report 

Session:   Closed Session;  Open Session 
Action Requested:  Decision;  Discussion/Direction;  Information 

To:  Board of Governors 
Date:  October 8, 2021 
Presented by: Doug Kirk - Chair, Finance & Property Committee 

Tariq Al-Idrissi - Vice President, Finance & Administration (A) 
Subject: Housing Capital Development Update 

Committee/Board Mandate: 
The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring the financial health of the University 
and the proper management of its buildings, lands and capital projects.  The Finance and 
Property Committee assists the Board in carrying out these responsibilities by monitoring 
the institution’s financial, property and capital affairs and making related policy 
recommendations. 

In its property role, the Committee is responsible for recommending appropriate Board 
decisions on the acquisition, use and disposition of the University’s property, and shall 
ensure that any decisions relating to endowed property are reflective of Trent Lands 
Committee guiding principles. The Committee will also be responsible for financial 
oversight of major capital projects and for the overall monitoring of campus capital 
building programs and stewardship of heritage assets.  The Committee makes 
recommendations to the Board of Governors for the approval of revisions to the Master 
Plan (siting of new facilities), the appointment of architects, final building designs and 
major construction contracts. 

Motion for Consideration (if applicable): 
That the Board of Governors receive the Housing Capital Development Update report for 
information. 

Executive Summary: 
This report is further to the reports provided to the Board of Governors on December 1, 
2017, May 11, 2018, February 15, 2019, May 10, 2019, June 21, 2019, October 4, 2019, 
December 6, 2019, February 14, 2020, May 15, 2020, November 18, 2020, and March 
12, 2021.   

Housing Services, in consultation with the campus community, developed a housing 
strategy to further align the housing program to the University’s strategic objectives, meet 
demand, and enhance the student experience.  
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This report provides an update on the housing capital development recommendations 
and details the suggested process and next steps. 

Analysis/Alternatives Considered: 

Background 
The University housing strategy has been in development since June 2017. Initial updates 
for the 2016-2017 year submitted to the Board of Governors on December 1, 2017, and 
May 11, 2018, detailed initial findings from internal consultations, a review of enrollment 
data and assessment metrics and standards, guiding principles for the strategy, and an 
outline of the scope of work.  

On February 16, 2019, a 10-year housing strategy was submitted to the Board of 
Governors. The strategy was developed after a market and demand analysis was 
completed by The Scion Group, which included extensive engagement and dialogue with 
over 3,000 members of the campus community. The housing strategy report included 
three broad recommendations: 

1. Engage in capital development to construct 700 residence beds on the Symons 
and Trail campuses, 

2. Renovate all residences in Peterborough, and 
3. Continue to support a strong residence program and experience. 

The capital development recommendation suggested that an alternative financing 
package be explored to develop a 400-bed College on Symons campus, a 150-bed 
addition to Traill College, a 150-bed addition to a College on the Symons campus, and a 
significant renovation to Otonabee College residence. 

Throughout 2019-20 administration worked with Brook McIlroy (BM) and Ernst & Young 
Orenda Corporate Finance Inc. (EY) to create a facilities development plan and begin 
financial analysis. Work on the project in 2019-20 included: 

• Development of planning principles, 
• Community engagement consultations 
• Short list of six financial strategy options meeting our key objectives for this 

project: Not-for-Profit Corporation (NPO); For-Profit Corporation (FPC); Housing 
Cooperative Corporation (Co-op); Public-Private Partnership (PPP); Private 
Ownership Operating Lease-License Back (POOLLB); Private Ownership 
(Private), 

• High-level block schematic scenarios and class D order of magnitude costing 
analyses for 10 program and site scenarios (attached), 

• Renovation and replacement options for Otonabee College residence (attached), 
• A risk analysis on sites and for each of the six financial strategies, 
• A recommendation on the financial strategies for further analysis: PPP, POOLLB, 

Private, and,  
• A recommendation for site locations to test financial feasibility: K Science North, 

J Traill North, N Otonabee Replacement (vertical) 

Item 2.4 - Housing Capital Development Update BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 24 of 109



Page 3 of 5 
 
In June 2020 the project was put on hiatus to allow administration to focus on COVID-19 
controls and preparations for a safe return of students, staff, and faculty to campus in the 
fall. 

During the winter of 2021, administration worked with EY conduct a high-level financial 
analysis that determined that given the assumptions around site locations and financial 
strategies, the Science North and Otonabee replacement options are financially feasible.  

Current situation  
With the move to Stage 3 in the Ontario Roadmap to Reopen, residence opened for the 
2021-22 academic year offering single and double rooms to students, resulting in 1,822 
beds available in Peterborough. Table 1 describes the 2021 residence demand metrics 
contrasted with the 2020 opening. While both openings took place during the pandemic, 
the 2021 demand for residence has rebounded to pre-pandemic numbers. 

Table 1. Residence demand metrics as of September 1, 2021 vs September 1, 2020 
 Residence 

metrics as of 
September 1, 

2021 

Residence 
metrics as of 
September 1, 

2020 
Total available beds  1,822 1,163 
Assigned beds  1,820 1,046 
Waitlisted students 34 3 
Unfulfilled applications 139 0 

 
Notes:  

1. Total beds: the total number of available beds for the academic year. 
2. Assigned beds: the total number of beds with a student assigned. 
3. Waitlisted students: applied to residence after the June residence guarantee 

deadline and remained on the waitlist as of September 1. 
4. Unfulfilled applications: students who were on the waitlist before cancelling their 

application prior to September 1. These students were provided with resources 
and support in finding off campus housing in the area. 

Proposed timeline for next steps 
While demand for the 2021-22 academic year remains high, administration identified a 
need to review the assumptions relating to residence demand, room type, and changing 
student expectations resulting from the on-going COVID-19 pandemic.  

Administration has secured The Scion Group to review the initial student housing market 
and demand analysis conducted in 2018, and examine issues related to the pandemic 
and its implications for the future of student housing. 
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Table 2. High-level timeline 

Date Governance 
Meeting 

Milestone 

September 7, 2021  Engage Scion to review the 2018 demand 
analysis 

September & 
October 2021 

F&P and BOG Update to the F&P and BOG for 
information 

December 13, 2021  Scion demand analysis received by 
administration 

January 25, 2022 F&P Presentation on demand analysis 
February 4, 2022 BOG Update to the board for information 
February 28, 2022  Re-engage with Ernst & Young to conduct 

an RFI process to gauge market interest; 
information on options and possible 
costing for a new residence, with possible 
non-revenue generating multi-purpose 
space 

June 2022 F&P and BOG  Update to the board and potential approval 
to proceed to market for a partner 

 

Financial Implications: 
Financing of any new construction and/or renovations to residences, built by a private 
developer(s) following an RFP process or another mechanism for alternative financing, 
will depend upon projected future demand and a successful business case approved by 
the Committee and Board of Governors.  

Enterprise Risk Assessment: 
Housing demand has been ranked in the top ten of the most recent enterprise risk 
assessment register.  

Next Steps: 
Administration anticipates an update regarding the Scion report and future residence 
demand for the January 25, 2022, meeting. 

Alignment with Mission, Vision, Values, Strategic Plan: 
A positive residence experience contributes to university recruitment, retention, and 
strategic mandate agreement targets. 

Consultation: 
Consultations on the project began in the fall of 2017. Please see previous reports for 
detailed information regarding the various consultations to date. 

Scion, working with administration, will conduct a student focus group as part of the 
updated market and demand analysis process. 
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Compliance with Policy/Legislation: 
This project is consistent with the University strategic objectives relating to recruitment 
and retention of students. 

Supporting Reference Materials (attached): 
N/A 
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1 Quarter Year To Date 1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years 5 Years 10 Years
Equity
S&P/TSX Composite 8.5 17.3 33.9 14.4 10.8 10.7 10.8 7.4
S&P 500 6.9 12.1 28.2 19.7 16.3 16.2 16.5 17.7
S&P 500 (USD) 8.5 15.3 40.8 23.0 18.7 17.6 17.6 14.8
MSCI EAFE (Net) 3.6 5.8 20.6 9.1 6.1 6.6 9.2 8.6
MSCI World (Net) 6.1 9.9 26.6 16.4 12.7 12.7 13.7 13.5
MSCI ACWI (Net) 5.8 9.2 26.6 16.1 12.3 12.2 13.5 12.7
MSCI Emerging Markets (Net) 3.5 4.4 28.1 13.6 9.1 9.2 12.0 6.9
Real Estate
MSCI/REALPAC Canada Annual Property 1.7 2.9 1.1 1.2 3.2 4.3 4.7 7.4
MSCI/REALPAC Canada Quarterly Property Fund 3.6 6.1 8.1 5.9 6.5 7.1 7.1 8.2
Fixed Income
FTSE Canada Universe Bond 1.7 -3.5 -2.4 2.6 4.2 3.3 2.6 3.9
FTSE Canada Long Term Overall Bond 3.7 -7.4 -6.9 2.1 5.1 4.3 3.5 6.0
FTSE Canada 91 Day TBill 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.9 1.1 1.1 1.0 0.9
Consumer Price Index
Canadian CPI, unadjusted 1.3 2.9 3.1 1.9 1.9 2.0 1.8 1.7

Canadian Equities
The S&P/TSX Composite Index returned +8.5% in the second quarter of 2021. Apart from Health Care (-11.6%), all sectors showed positive returns. The best performing sectors were Information
Technology (+23.0%), Energy (+13.9%) and Real Estate (+10.7%). Value stocks and growth stocks experienced similar returns for the quarter, but value stocks have significantly outperformed growth
stocks in the past year (+46.1% vs. +20.5% respectively). The S&P/TSX Composite Index returned +33.9% over the last 12 months. Consumer Discretionary (+54.3%), Financials (+49.7%), and
Energy (+44.5%) were the best performing sectors. Materials (+4.6%) was the worst performer followed by Consumer Staples (+11.7%) and Utilities (+23.0%).

U.S. Equities
The S&P 500 Index returned +6.9% in the quarter in Canadian dollar terms. All sectors had positive returns apart from Utilities (-1.9%). The best performing sectors were Real Estate (+11.4%),
Information Technology (+9.9%) and Energy (+9.7%). During the past 12 months, the S&P 500 Index returned +28.2% in Canadian dollar terms. The best performing sector was Financials (+47.1%)
while Utilities (+5.3%) and Consumer Staples (+12.1%) were the worst performers.

Non-North American Equities
The MSCI EAFE Index returned +3.6% in the quarter in Canadian dollar terms. Aside from Utilities (-2.6%) and Communication Services (-1.2%), all sectors had positive returns. The best performing
sectors were Health Care (+7.7%), Consumer Staples (+6.9%) and Information Technology (+6.7%). During the past 12 months, the Index returned +20.6% in Canadian dollar terms. The best
performing sectors were Consumer Discretionary (+36.2%) and Materials (+33.8%) while the worst performers were Health Care (+2.1%) and Utilities (+2.5%).

Fixed Income
The Canadian investment grade bond market, as measured by the FTSE Canada Universe Bond Index, returned +1.7% over the quarter. Provincial bonds (+2.7%) outperformed Corporate bonds
(+1.3%) and Federal bonds (+0.8%). From a term perspective, long duration bonds (+3.7%) outperformed medium duration bonds (+1.6%) and short duration bonds (+0.1%). During the past 12
months, the Index returned -2.4%. Bond market performance over the year was led by Corporate bonds (+0.8%) which outperformed Federal bonds (-3.2%) and Provincial bonds (-4.0%). Short
duration bonds (+0.7%) outperformed medium duration bonds (-1.4%) and long duration bonds (-6.9%) for the 12-month period.

Capital Market Performance

Major Capital Markets' Returns
As of 30 June 2021

Returns for periods greater than one year are annualized. Sector returns are sourced from MSCI.
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Allocation
Market
Value
($000)

Performance (%)

1
Quarter

1
Year

2
Years

3
Years

4
Years

5
Years

10
Years

Pension Fund* 436,206 4.9 (41) 16.5 (60) 10.2 (59) 8.7 (60) 8.2 (57) 8.4 (59) 7.7 (86)
Benchmark 4.8 (41) 16.5 (62) 10.0 (63) 8.5 (67) 8.1 (61) 8.2 (62) 7.5 (88)
Value Added 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2
Balanced Funds Median 4.8 17.2 10.3 8.9 8.4 8.6 8.5

Special Investment Fund* 3,128 4.5 (66) 13.6 (91) 8.9 (89) 7.9 (81) 7.4 (78) 7.3 (89) 6.7 (97)
Benchmark 4.4 (66) 13.5 (91) 8.7 (91) 7.8 (84) 7.3 (84) 7.2 (90) 6.7 (97)
Value Added 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0
Balanced Funds Median 4.8 17.2 10.3 8.9 8.4 8.6 8.5

Executive Summary - By Plan

Trailing Period Performance
As of 30 June 2021

Parentheses contain percentile rankings.
* Total fund market value includes cash account balance (if any).
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Performance (%)
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Pension Fund 9.0 (58) 15.9 (38) -2.8 (65) 8.8 (54) 7.8 (36) 3.2 (92) 9.8 (74) 13.1 (90)
Benchmark 8.8 (60) 15.8 (39) -3.0 (69) 8.7 (54) 7.9 (36) 3.1 (92) 9.8 (74) 13.0 (91)
Value Added 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1 -0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1
Balanced Funds Median 9.2 15.1 -2.4 8.8 7.2 6.0 11.4 17.1

Special Investment Fund 8.7 (60) 14.2 (72) -2.4 (49) 7.3 (76) 7.6 (44) 2.0 (93) 9.5 (82) 9.6 (97)
Benchmark 8.6 (61) 14.3 (71) -2.6 (55) 7.3 (76) 7.6 (44) 2.0 (93) 9.6 (81) 9.6 (97)
Value Added 0.1 -0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0
Balanced Funds Median 9.2 15.1 -2.4 8.8 7.2 6.0 11.4 17.1

Executive Summary - By Plan

Calendar Year Performance
1-year returns as of 31 December

Parentheses contain percentile rankings.
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1
Quarter

1
Year

2
Years

3
Years

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2021

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2020

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2019

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2018

Canadian Equities

TDAM Emerald Canadian Equity Index 8.5 (32) 33.9 (58) 14.5 (40) 10.9 (27) 10.8 (29) 5.8 (30) 6.3 (53) 4.9 (69)
S&P/TSX Composite 8.5 (32) 33.9 (58) 14.4 (41) 10.8 (30) 10.7 (31) 5.6 (31) 6.2 (58) 4.9 (70)
Value Added 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.0
Canadian Equity Median 8.1 35.2 13.6 10.0 9.8 4.6 6.4 5.8
U.S. Equities

TDAM Emerald Pooled U.S. Index 6.9 (37) 27.9 (61) 19.6 (46) 16.3 (42) 16.2 (42) 13.8 (41) 12.9 (35) 16.7 (41)
S&P 500 (CAD) 6.9 (37) 28.0 (60) 19.8 (45) 16.3 (42) 16.2 (42) 13.8 (41) 12.8 (35) 16.8 (41)
Value Added 0.0 -0.1 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1
U.S. Equity Median 6.0 29.2 18.9 15.1 15.1 12.6 11.8 15.9
U.S. Equities Hedged

TDAM Emerald Hedged U.S. Equity Index PFT II 8.4 (23) 39.4 (12) 21.3 (37) 16.9 (39) 16.0 (43) 11.2 (59) 10.6 (67) 10.3 (98)
S&P 500 (Hedged) 8.5 (23) 39.5 (12) 21.4 (36) 17.0 (38) 16.0 (43) 11.2 (59) 10.5 (67) 10.3 (98)
Value Added -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0
U.S. Equity Median 6.0 29.2 18.9 15.1 15.1 12.6 11.8 15.9
TDAM Emerald Hedged Synthetic U.S. Equity Index 8.4 (24) 39.0 (12) 20.9 (38) 16.7 (40) 15.8 (45) 10.9 (62) 10.4 (69) 10.0 (98)
S&P 500 (Hedged) 8.5 (23) 39.5 (12) 21.4 (36) 17.0 (38) 16.0 (43) 11.2 (59) 10.5 (67) 10.3 (98)
Value Added -0.1 -0.5 -0.5 -0.3 -0.2 -0.3 -0.1 -0.3
U.S. Equity Median 6.0 29.2 18.9 15.1 15.1 12.6 11.8 15.9
International Equities

TDAM Emerald International Equity Index 3.6 (57) 20.4 (71) 9.2 (68) 6.2 (57) 6.8 (61) 6.7 (53) 5.2 (61) 8.2 (76)
MSCI EAFE (Net) 3.6 (57) 20.3 (71) 9.1 (69) 6.1 (59) 6.6 (63) 6.6 (53) 5.1 (63) 8.1 (79)
Value Added 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1
International Equity Median 4.0 23.0 10.6 6.9 7.5 6.9 5.6 9.4
Fixed Income

TDAM Emerald Canadian Bond Index 1.6 (71) -2.5 (95) 2.5 (99) 4.1 (95) 3.3 (99) 3.9 (84) 3.3 (86) 3.0 (73)
FTSE Canada Universe Bond 1.7 (65) -2.4 (94) 2.6 (98) 4.2 (95) 3.3 (98) 3.9 (84) 3.3 (86) 3.0 (73)
Value Added -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Executive Summary - Index Manager

Comparative Performance
As of 30 June

Returns are expressed as percentages.
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Executive Summary - Index Manager

Comparative Performance
As of 30 June

1
Quarter

1
Year

2
Years

3
Years

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2021

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2020

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2019

4
Years

Ending
Jun-2018

Canadian Bonds Median 1.8 -1.3 3.4 4.8 3.8 4.3 3.5 3.1
Short-Term Investments

TDAM Emerald Short-Term Index 0.1 (42) 0.4 (52) 1.1 (16) 1.4 (18) 1.4 (16) 1.6 (11) 1.3 (23) 1.1 (24)
FTSE Canada 91 Day TBill 0.0 (93) 0.1 (100) 0.9 (96) 1.1 (100) 1.1 (100) 1.2 (100) 0.9 (100) 0.7 (100)
Value Added 0.1 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4
Money Market Median 0.1 0.4 1.0 1.3 1.3 1.4 1.2 1.0

Returns are expressed as percentages.
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Commentary & Recommendations 
Executive Summary 

As of 30 June 2021 
 

Mandate Comments Recommendations 

Pension Fund  The Pension Fund returned 4.9% for the quarter ending 30 June 2021, ranking in the
second quartile among Aon’s universe of balanced funds.

 All index funds tracked their respective indices as expected.

 No material negative influences.

 No action is required.

Special Investment Fund  The Special Investment Fund returned 4.5% for the quarter ending 30 June 2021, 
ranking in the third quartile among Aon’s universe of balanced funds.

 All index funds tracked their respective indices as expected.

 No material negative influences.

 No action is required.
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Aon Hewitt Inc. reconciles the rates of return with each investment manager quarterly. Aon Hewitt Inc. calculates returns from the custodian/trustee statements
while the managers use different data sources. Occasionally discrepancies occur because of differences in computational procedures, security prices, "trade
date" versus "settlement date" accounting, etc. We monitor these discrepancies closely and find that they generally do not tend to persist over time. However, if a
material discrepancy arises or persists, we will bring the matter to your attention after discussion with your money manager.

This report may contain slight discrepancies due to rounding in some of the calculations. All data presented is in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated.

© 2021 Aon Hewitt Inc. (“Aon”)

This report does not constitute accounting, legal or tax advice and should not be relied upon for any such business decisions. This report contains information that
is proprietary to Aon and may not be distributed, reproduced, copied, or amended without Aon’s prior written consent.

Statement of Disclosure
Disclosure

As of 30 June 2021
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Plan
Plan versus 4% + 

Annual CPI, 4 years

Plan difference from benchmark 

+/- 12bps, 4 years

Endowment Fund Outperformed Target Out of Tracking limit

Endowment Lands Fund Outperformed Target In Tracking Limit

Topic Summary Action Required

Investment Monitoring Results -

Quantitative

• TDAM has performed in line with the tracking error limits in the past 5 years.

• NEI has outperformed the benchmark over last 10 annualized years.

• None

Investment Monitoring Results -

Qualitative

• No new updates. 

• TD: Previously announced, Jean Masson, Managing Director, Quantitative Equity 

Team, will be retiring from TDAM on October 31, 2021.

• NEI: Yufei Man, Director and Portfolio manager for the Asset Allocation 

strategies, left at the end of May to start up a Fintech organization.

• None

Investment Policy and Investment 

Manager Compliance • No investment policy violations noted.

• SIPP is being updated

Regulatory Developments Impacting 

Investments

• None • None

Executive Plan Summary:
For periods ending June 30, 2021
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1 Fund Benchmark: 20% S&P/TSX Composite Index, 10% S&P 500 (CAD), 10% S&P 500 (CAD hedged), 20% MSCI EAFE (CAD), 37% FTSE Universe Bond Index, and 

3% FTSE 91-Day T-Bill Index.

Returns are gross of fees. All return information from and prior to December 2020 is provided by the previous consultant.

Last 3 

months
YTD 1 Year 2 year 3 Years 4 Years 5 year 10 year

Endowment Fund 4.6% 6.0% 16.1% 10.2% 8.7% 8.3% 8.6% 8.1%

Plan Benchmark
1

4.6% 5.8% 15.8% 10.0% 8.5% 8.1% 8.4% 8.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% -0.3%

Endowment Lands Fund 4.6% 5.9% 15.9% 10.1% 8.7% 8.2% 8.5%

Plan Benchmark1 4.6% 5.8% 15.8% 10.0% 8.5% 8.1% 8.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%

Executive Summary: 
For periods ending June 30, 2021
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1 Fund Benchmark: 20% S&P/TSX Composite Index, 10% S&P 500 (CAD), 10% S&P 500 (CAD hedged), 20% MSCI EAFE (CAD), 37% FTSE Universe Bond Index, and 

3% FTSE 91-Day T-Bill Index. Returns are gross of fees. All return information from and prior to December 2020 is provided by the previous consultant. 

Calendar Year Returns 2020 2019 2018 2017

Endowment Fund 9.5% 15.7% -2.3% 9.5%

Plan Benchmark
1

9.3% 15.7% -2.3% 9.5%

Value Added 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Endowment Lands Fund 9.5% 15.7% -2.3% 9.5%

Plan Benchmark
1

9.3% 15.7% -2.3% 9.5%

Value Added 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Executive Summary: Calendar Year Performance
For periods ending December 31

Item 2.6 - Investment Performance Endowment/SRI Fund - Q2 BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 40 of 109



Confidential, not for distribution. 6

Last 3 

months
YTD 1 Year 2 year 3 Years 4 Years 5 year 10 year

Endowment Fund 4.6% 6.0% 16.1% 10.2% 8.7% 8.3% 8.6% 8.1%

Plan Benchmark
1

4.6% 5.8% 15.8% 10.0% 8.5% 8.1% 8.4% 8.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% -0.3%

Annualized 4% Return + CPI 6.0%

Value Added 2.3%

TDAM 4.6% 5.9% 15.9% 10.1% 8.7% 8.2% 8.5% 8.1%

Plan Benchmark
1

4.6% 5.8% 15.8% 10.0% 8.5% 8.1% 8.4% 8.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% -0.3%

NEI 5.0% 8.5% 23.1% 12.6% 9.6% 8.8% 9.3% 8.9%

Plan Benchmark
1

4.6% 5.8% 15.8% 10.0% 8.5% 8.1% 8.4% 8.4%

Value Added 0.4% 2.7% 7.3% 2.6% 1.1% 0.7% 0.9% 0.5%

1 Fund Benchmark: 20% S&P/TSX Composite Index, 10% S&P 500 (CAD), 10% S&P 500 (CAD hedged), 20% MSCI EAFE (CAD), 37% FTSE Universe Bond Index, and 

3% FTSE 91-Day T-Bill Index.

Returns are gross of fees. All return information from and prior to December 2020 is provided by the previous consultant. 

Executive Summary: Endowment Fund
For periods ending June 30, 2021
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Last 3 

months
YTD 1 Year 2 year 3 Years 4 Years 5 year 10 year

TDAM Emerald Canadian Equity Index 8.5% 17.3% 33.9% 14.5% 10.9% 10.8% 10.8% 7.5%

S&P/TSX Composite Index 8.5% 17.3% 33.9% 14.4% 10.8% 10.7% 10.8% 7.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.1%

TDAM Emerald Pooled U.S. Index 6.9% 12.0% 27.9% 19.7% 16.3% 16.1% 16.5% 17.7%

S&P 500 (CAD) 7.0% 12.2% 28.0% 19.7% 16.3% 16.2% 16.7% 17.8%

Value Added -0.1% -0.2% -0.1% 0.0% 0.0% -0.1% -0.2% -0.1%

TDAM Emerald Hedged U.S. Equity Index PFT II 8.4% 15.0% 39.3% 21.3% 16.9% 15.9% 16.2% 14.1%

S&P 500 (CAD) Hedged 8.4% 15.0% 39.4% 21.4% 16.9% 16.0% 16.3% 14.2%

Value Added 0.0% 0.0% -0.1% -0.1% 0.0% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1%

TDAM Emerald International Equity Index 3.6% 5.8% 20.3% 9.1% 6.2% 6.7% 9.3% 8.7%

MSCI EAFE (CAD) 3.6% 5.8% 20.3% 9.1% 6.1% 6.6% 9.2% 8.6%

Value Added 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%

TDAM Emerald Canadian Bond Index 1.6% -3.5% -2.6% 2.4% 4.0% 3.2% 2.5% 3.8%

FTSE Canada Universe Bond 1.7% -3.5% -2.4% 2.6% 4.2% 3.3% 2.6% 3.9%

Value Added -0.1% 0.0% -0.2% -0.2% -0.2% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1%

TDAM Emerald Short-Term Index 0.1% 0.1% 0.4% 1.1% 1.5% 1.5% 1.4% 1.2%

FTSE Canada 91 Day T-Bill 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.9% 1.1% 1.1% 1.0% 0.9%

Value Added 0.1% 0.0% 0.3% 0.2% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 0.3%

Executive Summary: Endowment Fund
For periods ending June 30, 2021
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Last 3 

months
YTD 1 Year 2 year 3 Years 4 Years 5 year 10 year

NEI Ethical Canadian Equity 7.6% 19.9% 42.4% 14.8% 9.5% 8.7% 9.3% 9.2%

S&P/TSX Composite Index 8.5% 17.3% 33.9% 14.4% 10.8% 10.7% 10.8% 7.4%

Value Added -0.9% 2.6% 8.5% 0.4% -1.3% -2.0% -1.5% 1.8%

NEI Canadian Small Cap Equity 8.3% 22.3% 50.9% 5.4% 3.6% 2.7% 2.1% 1.1%

S&P TSX Small Cap 9.2% 19.8% 57.7% 19.1% 9.2% 8.3% 7.3% 3.6%

Value Added -0.8% 2.5% -6.8% -13.7% -5.6% -5.6% -5.2% -2.5%

NEI Ethical Global Equity 5.5% 9.0% 28.4% 17.5% 12.7% 12.4% 14.3% 13.0%

MSCI World Index ($CAD) 6.2% 9.9% 26.4% 16.4% 12.7% 12.7% 13.7% 13.4%

Value Added -0.7% -0.9% 2.0% 1.1% 0.0% -0.3% 0.6% -0.4%

NEI Canadian Bond 1.6% -3.3% -1.0% 5.4% 6.3% 5.0% 4.1% 4.7%

FTSE Canada Universe Bond 1.7% -3.5% -2.4% 2.6% 4.2% 3.3% 2.6% 3.9%

Value Added -0.1% 0.2% 1.4% 2.8% 2.1% 1.7% 1.5% 0.8%

Executive Summary: Endowment Fund
For periods ending June 30, 2021
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1 Fund Benchmark: 20% S&P/TSX Composite Index, 10% S&P 500 (CAD), 10% S&P 500 (CAD hedged),  20% MSCI EAFE (CAD), 37% FTSE Universe Bond Index, and 

3% FTSE 91-Day T-Bill Index. Returns are gross of fees. All return information from and prior to December 2020 is provided by the previous consultant. 

Executive Summary: Endowment Lands Fund
For periods ending June 30, 2021

Last 3 

months
YTD 1 Year 2 year 3 Years 4 Years 5 year 10 year

Endowment Lands Fund 4.6% 5.9% 15.9% 10.1% 8.7% 8.2% 8.5%

Plan Benchmark
1

4.6% 5.8% 15.8% 10.0% 8.5% 8.1% 8.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%

Annualized 4% Return + CPI 6.0%

Value Added 2.2%

TDAM 4.6% 5.9% 15.9% 10.1% 8.7% 8.2% 8.5%

Plan Benchmark
1

4.6% 5.8% 15.8% 10.0% 8.5% 8.1% 8.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%
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Last 3 

months
YTD 1 Year 2 year 3 Years 4 Years 5 year 10 year

TDAM Emerald Canadian Equity Index 8.5% 17.3% 33.9% 14.5% 10.9% 10.8% 10.8% 7.5%

S&P/TSX Composite Index 8.5% 17.3% 33.9% 14.4% 10.8% 10.7% 10.8% 7.4%

Value Added 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.1%

TDAM Emerald Pooled U.S. Index 6.9% 12.0% 27.9% 19.7% 16.3% 16.1% 16.5% 17.7%

S&P 500 (CAD) 7.0% 12.2% 28.0% 19.7% 16.3% 16.2% 16.7% 17.8%

Value Added -0.1% -0.2% -0.1% 0.0% 0.0% -0.1% -0.2% -0.1%

TDAM Emerald Hedged U.S. Equity Index PFT II 8.4% 15.0% 39.3% 21.3% 16.9% 15.9% 16.2% 14.1%

S&P 500 (CAD) Hedged 8.4% 15.0% 39.4% 21.4% 16.9% 16.0% 16.3% 14.2%

Value Added 0.0% 0.0% -0.1% -0.1% 0.0% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1%

TDAM Emerald International Equity Index 3.6% 5.8% 20.3% 9.1% 6.2% 6.7% 9.3% 8.7%

MSCI EAFE (CAD) 3.6% 5.8% 20.3% 9.1% 6.1% 6.6% 9.2% 8.6%

Value Added 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%

TDAM Emerald Canadian Bond Index 1.6% -3.5% -2.6% 2.4% 4.0% 3.2% 2.5% 3.8%

FTSE Canada Universe Bond 1.7% -3.5% -2.4% 2.6% 4.2% 3.3% 2.6% 3.9%

Value Added -0.1% 0.0% -0.2% -0.2% -0.2% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1%

TDAM Emerald Short-Term Index 0.1% 0.1% 0.4% 1.1% 1.5% 1.5% 1.4% 1.2%

FTSE Canada 91 Day T-Bill 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.9% 1.1% 1.1% 1.0% 0.9%

Value Added 0.1% 0.0% 0.3% 0.2% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 0.3%

Executive Summary: Endowment Lands Fund
For periods ending June 30, 2021
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S&P/TSX Composite Index S&P 500 CAD MSCI EAFE CAD

MSCI World Index ($CAD) MSCI ACWI CAD MSCI EM CAD

FTSE Canada Universe Bond Index FTSE Canada Long Term Overall Bond FTSE Canada 91 Day T-Bill Index

Canadian CPI MSCI/ REALpac Canadian Annual Property Index
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Committee Report 

Session:   Closed Session;  Open Session 
Action Requested:  Decision;  Discussion/Direction;  Information 

To:  Board of Governors 
Date:  October 8, 2021 
Presented by: Julie Davis, VP External Relations & Development 

Sherry Booth, AVP, Philanthropy & Alumni Engagement 
Subject: Annual Endowment Fund Distribution Report 

Committee/Board Mandate: 
Special Resolution II.6, section 1.03 outlines the distribution policy for the endowment 
funds, and requires the Audit & Investment Committee to review the distribution policy 
and performance of the Endowment Fund at least annually to ensure the appreciation of 
the Fund is adequate to sustain the following items:  

1. Purchasing power of the Endowment Fund by growing the fund at the rate of inflation
2. The annual distribution rate of the Endowment Fund to maintain a constant pay out to
meet the Endowment’s longer-term commitments.

The Audit and Investment Committee received the Endowment Fund Distribution Rate 
Report for information on September 27, 2021.   

Executive Summary: 
The fiscal year performance of both the general endowment and SRI sub-fund 
exceeded the 4% target for real return achieving 17% for the general endowment, and 
21% for the SRI fund. The returns are particularly strong this year as they are measured 
against a low-point of last year’s CoVid-19 market decline, and reflect the substantial 
rebound the markets have experienced over the past year. 

Over $2.5 million was distributed this year to support students with scholarships and 
bursaries, academic programs, athletics, Bata Library, experiential learning, student 
services, and college programming. 

Analysis: 
The University endowment consists of more than 900 funds established by donors, with 
unique individual requirements for distribution. There are two endowment funds: the 
general endowment, and the SRI sub-fund which donors can choose if they want a fund 
that invests more selectively to advance environmental, social and governance goals.  

Item 2.7 - Annual Report on Distribution 
from the Endowment Fund

BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
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Figure 1:  Trent University Endowment Assets  

  General Endowment SRI Endowment 
  

30-Apr 2018 2019 2020 2021 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Book 
Value 53,296,832 58,906,514 61,046,450 67,090,068 3,208,728 3,257,868 4,164,935 4,286,509 

Market 
Value 60,812,985 68,548,244 68,485,267 82,047,497 3,801,073 4,065,673 3,990,887 4,852,257 

(Note – changes in book value includes addition of new donations; market value includes the 
value of these donations in addition to market appreciation)   

 

Financial Implications: 
Over the past ten years, more than $20 million has been distributed throughout the 
University to support: scholarships, bursaries, academic programs, endowed chairs, 
athletics, Bata Library, experiential learning, student services, colleges, to name a few 
examples. Endowment funds are essential to the long term mission of the University, as 
the principal is invested in perpetuity, and the annual distribution will grow as the market 
value of the funds increase. 

Enterprise Risk Assessment: 
The balancing act requires the Board to consider the purchasing power of the 
Endowment Fund as well as the annual distribution rate to maintain a constant pay out 
to meet the Endowment’s longer-term commitments.  

Considerations in reviewing the distribution rate should consider: 

• The Board’s obligation to ensure the long term financial stability of the 
endowment funds, while making prudent decisions to maintain donor confidence 
and create an environment to attract more donations. Donors will be pleased with 
this year’s positive returns and market recovery.  

- Donor’s intention to accomplish impact. Endowed funds are established with the 
primary goal of accomplishing specific outcomes such as supporting students 
through financial aid or funding library acquisitions. 

- The negative impact from any market decline may include students who will 
receive less support or departments who rely upon these funds to provide 
services or purchasing learning resources. 

- Funds established for scholarships form part of the recruitment package Trent 
offers. This is particularly the case for graduate recruitment, which is highly 
competitive and where funds available to students may heavily influence their 
enrolment decision 
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Next Steps: 
 
The Development Office will soon be providing customized annual stewardship reports 
to hundreds of donors to report on the fund performance and use of the funds. These 
reports often include thank you letters from the student recipients, or reports from 
academic and administrative leaders on the impact of these gifts. 
 

Alignment with Mission, Vision, Values, Strategic Plan: 
 

Financial Sustainability 

Exploring all means necessary to securing a healthy financial future. 

Building a culture of philanthropy, to advance the University’s mission.  
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Board Report 

Session:  Closed Session; Open Session

Action Requested:  Decision;  Discussion/Direction;  Information 

To:  Board of Governors 
Date:  October 8, 2021 
Presented by: Julian Smith, Chair Audit and Investment Committee 

Tariq Al-Idrissi, Vice President, Finance and Administration (A) 
Subject: 2020/2021 Audited Financial Statements 

Committee/Board Mandate: 
In its audit role, the Audit and Investment Committee is responsible for reviewing results of 
external audits and ensuring that appropriate financial controls are in place.  The Committee 
monitors the University’s legislative compliance and maintains a watching brief on statutory 
and accountability requirements. 

The Committee’s mandate includes: 
• Receiving reports on the results of the general accounts, interim and other external

audits, reviewing the independence of the auditors, and meeting with the external
auditors privately at least once per year;

• Reviewing and recommending for Board approval the University’s annual financial
statements;

• Making recommendations concerning internal financial controls, requesting
additional reports from the administration or auditors on matters of concern, or may
require a meeting with legal counsel to seek advice on a major audit-related issue;

• Determining subjects for internal audits or review/consulting assignments by the
auditors or others; and

• Assessing and monitoring risks related to its responsibilities for audit and statutory
compliance matters.

Motion for Consideration (if applicable): 
That the Board of Governors approve the Trent University Audited Financial Statements for 
the fiscal year ending April 30, 2021.   

Executive Summary: 
Although certain audit procedures remain outstanding, the preliminary audit opinion of the 
external auditors, KPMG, is that the accompanying draft financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of Trent University as at April 30, 2021, and its 
results of operations, its changes in net assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.  The final 
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auditors’ report will be dated upon the completion of the remaining procedures, including the 
Board of Governors’ approval of the financial statements.  The final audited financial 
statements will be dated October 8, 2021, the date of the Board of Governors’ meeting. 

For the 2020/2021 fiscal year, Trent University had a total revenue of $196.2 million, 
primarily from government grants and tuition fees, and total expenses of $185.3 million, 
primarily for salaries and benefits, scholarships and bursaries, and supplies, resulting in a 
total excess of revenue over expense for the fiscal year of $10.9 million.  The unrestricted 
net assets fund balance deficiency decreased to $101.0 million at April 30, 2021, of which 
$74.6 million is related to employee future benefits and the deficiency in the pension plans. 

Enrolment increased 6.9% from 2019/2020 to 11,068 FTEs, which generated $7.7 million or 
9.5% more tuition revenue despite the Ministry-mandated freeze on domestic tuition rates.  
Although enrolment growth was not funded, Operating Fund government grants increased 
by $6.2 million as Trent recognized $6.6 million in COVID-relief funding received from the 
Ministry.  After $3.4 million in net appropriations for strategic initiatives and $2.0 million in 
contributions to endowments, the Operating Fund ended the fiscal year with a nominal 
surplus of $0.1 million before fair value and pension actuarial adjustments.  This financial 
result was primarily due to tuition-only enrolment growth. 

Analysis/Alternatives Considered: 
The external audit was conducted in mid-July 2021; due to the pandemic, the audit was 
performed remotely, with audio/video calls as necessary.  The review of and revision to the 
employee future benefits obligation (noted below) and completion of outstanding items 
delayed the finalization of the statements until September 2021. 

The audit included additional procedures and testing due to two significant factors:  
(1) The on-going COVID-19 pandemic declared in March 2020, which resulted in 

significant changes in University business (and world-wide markets).  No significant 
issues were identified through the enhanced procedures in response to the 
pandemic; and  

(2) The implementation of the New auditing standard CAS 540, Auditing Accounting 
Estimates and Related Disclosures.  Based on the results of the work completed, a 
material error was uncovered in relation to the accounting of Employee Future 
Benefits.   
The methodology used by Trent’s engaged experts to value employee future benefits 
was reviewed by KPMG Specialists who noted that a Provision for Adverse Deviation 
(PfAD) had not been included in the defined benefit obligation for the unfunded plans.  
The AcSB issued a clarification in March 2019 stating that this provision should be 
included in unfunded plans.   The error was significant; an increase to employee 
future benefit obligation and a decrease to net assets of $2.648 million in 2021.  This 
error was corrected in these financial statements for both 2021 and 2020 as well as 
an opening balance adjustment to May 1, 2019.   

Materiality remained unchanged at $3 million, with a misstatement posting threshold of 
$150,000.  The auditors noted one misstatement: funds held in trust by the University’s 
lawyers in the amount of $0.339 million related to deficiencies in the Durham Residence 
construction and the associated payable to CDOC were not recorded in the financial 
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statements.  This misstatement has been corrected and is now reflected accurately in these 
financial statements as an increase to both accounts receivable and accounts payable.  

KPMG did not identify any uncorrected presentation and disclosure differences in respect of 
the financial statements, nor did they identify any control deficiencies which were determined 
to be significant deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting.  KPMG provided 
management with follow up on control observations they identified in prior years as well as 
observations in the current year.   

Financial Implications: 

Summary of Revenue and Expense – All Funds 
Trent University had total revenue of $196.2 million and total expenses of $185.3 million 
resulting in an excess of revenue over expense of $10.9 million for the 2020/2021 fiscal 
year.  Combined with the change in internally restricted net assets, the change in investment 
in capital assets, internally endowed amounts and remeasurements related to the 
University’s pension plans, the total overall increase in unrestricted fund balance was $6.7 
million for the year.  This decreased the Unrestricted net assets fund balance deficiency to 
$101.0 million at April 30, 2021, $74.6 million of which results from the employee future 
benefits and the pension plan deficiency. 

Under the Strategic Mandate Agreement 2020-2025 (SMA3), enrolment growth is not 
funded.  The increase in government grants during this fiscal year is the result of recognizing  
$6.6 million in COVID-relief funding in the fiscal year (see explanation in next section).  
Excluding this relief funding, total government grants were $1.6 million less than the previous 
year as the University received $0.8 million less in research funding  and $0.6 million less in  
Graduate Expansion funding in 2020/2021 compared to the prior year.  The increase in 
enrolment did generate $7.7 million in additional tuition revenue for the year.  Government 
grants represent approximately 35.7% (2020 – 32.9%) of total revenue while Trent, like most 
other universities, is increasing its reliance on tuition fees, now representing 45.3% (2020 – 
41.0%) of total revenue. 

Revenue from ancillary sales and services was significantly impacted by the COVID 
pandemic.  Ancillary services revenue was $14.5 million less than last year, depleting most 
ancillary services reserves with excess revenue impairment being borne by the Operating 
Fund.  Other income, comprised of investment income and miscellaneous revenue (OUAC 
application fees, advanced qualifications, property rental fees, etc.) increased by $0.7 million 
from last year due to increased advanced qualification course revenues. 

As expected, salaries and benefits represent 68.5% (2020 – 65.6%) of total expenses.  
Scholarships and bursaries increased by $0.8 million as a result of increased enrolment.  
Supplies expense decreased by $6.8 million; this expense category includes $5.1 million 
less in ancillary supplies, $1.3 million more in operating supplies (described below), $1.0 
million less in supplies for capital spending, and $2.0 million less trust and research 
expenses offset by decreases in trust and research revenue.   
 
The University was able to appropriate funds of $5.8 million for new strategic initiatives 
(which was offset by the depletion of ancillary services reserves due to the impact of the 
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pandemic on revenue impairment), invest $12.9 million in capital assets,  and contribute an 
additional $2.5 million to endowments.  The net gain on remeasurements predominately 
related to the University’s pension plans was $11.4 million, resulting largely from interest 
less net return on plan assets, and actuarial gains/losses.  The discount rate decreased from 
5.70% in 2019/2020 to 5.25% in 2020/2021. 

Summary of Operating Fund 
The Operating Fund had total revenue of $158.8 million and total expenses of $158.7 million 
resulting in a nominal operating surplus before fair value and pension actuarial adjustments 
of $0.1 million.  This financial result was primarily due to tuition-only enrolment growth. 

Enrolment increased 6.9% from 10,349 FTEs 
in 2019/2020 to 11,068 FTEs in 2020/2021, 
which generated $7.7 million or 9.5% more 
tuition revenue despite the Ministry-mandated 
freeze on domestic tuition fee rates.  Under the 
SMA3, enrolment growth is not funded and 
normal government operating grants remained 
relatively fixed.  The increase in government 
grants is the result of recognizing $6.6 million 
in one-time COVID-relief funding received from 
the Ministry to address the impacts of the 
pandemic on the University’s operations (see 
aside).  Government funding now represents 
approximately 39.6% (2020 – 39.4%) of 
operating revenue while tuition fees now 
represent 56.0% (2020 – 56.5%) of operating 
revenue. 
 

Salaries and benefits (including the pension actuarial adjustment) were approximately 4.1% 
higher than last year mainly due to increased instructional salaries to support increased 
enrolment, increases in salary and wage rates per the collective agreements, and SRA 
pension benefits fund payments.   

Scholarships and bursaries increased by $0.7 million as a result of enrolment growth.  
Supplies expenses are $1.2 million more than last year mainly as a result of $1.1 million 
occupancy guarantee expensed due to minimal Durham residence occupancy rates as a 
result of the pandemic.    

COVID-related costs (both salary and non-salary expenses) were offset by the COVID relief 
funding recognized in the fiscal year. 

The University approved net appropriations of $3.4 million for strategic initiatives ($5.8 
million in new strategic appropriations including significant appropriations to help mitigate 
the anticipated impact of COVID-19 on fiscal 2021/2022, less prior year appropriations used 
in this fiscal year) and contributed an additional $2.0 million to endowments during the year.  
After the appropriations, transfers to endowments, the increase in interfund transfers related 
to capital assets and adjusting for the fair value and pension actuarial adjustments of $4.7 

Aside on COVID-relief Funding:   

• Trent received $0.9 million in 
COVID-relief funding in March 2020, 
of which $0.7 million was applied 
against expenses incurred in 
2020/2021.   

• Trent received $6.5 million in 
COVID-relief funding in March 2021, 
of which $5.9 million was applied 
against expenses incurred in 
2020/2021.   

• The remaining $550,000 received 
March 2021 will be applied against 
May and June 2021 COVID-related 
expenses. 
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million, the Operating Fund ended the fiscal year with a total excess of revenue over 
expense of $4.8 million.   

Statement of Financial Position 
Cash and cash equivalents at April 30, 2021 were $0.7 million less than this time last year. 
Increased cash receipts for tuition payments were offset by investments in capital assets, 
maintaining a consistent year-over-year cash balance.    

Accounts receivable increased $2.2 million over last year due to $0.6 million increase in 
research receivables, mostly related to a new collaboration agreement, and  $1.1 million 
change in student credit balance reclassification. 

Trent’s long-term investments increased by $5.0 million in book value and by $13.8 million 
in fair value.  Note, long-term investments include $2.0 million in contributions to the sinking 
fund for the debentures, which have a fair value at April 30, 2021 of $2.2 million. 

In fiscal 2020/2021, Trent had $21.6 million in capital asset additions, the majority of which 
relate to the new Durham residence capital lease, Durham food services renovations and 
Durham property acquisitions.  The University received nearly $5.2 million in deferred capital 
contributions for capital assets. 

Deferred revenue related to research and trust increased $4.1 million from last year, 
primarily due to decreased activity due to COVID-19 restrictions.  Other deferred revenue 
was $4.5 million more than last year; the increase includes $1.6 million related to increased 
AQ course registration, $2.1 million related to summer 2021 courses and $1.0 million 
increase of unspent meal plans resulting from decreased usage due to the pandemic.  

The latest actuarial valuations prepared for funding purposes for the registered pensions plans 
were performed as of January 1, 2021 for TUFA and July 1, 2020 for OPSEU/Exempt.  The 
obligations as determined at the filing dates were extrapolated to April 30, 2021 with 
adjustments for current service costs, benefit payments, and interest.  Pension plan obligations 
($499.6 million) exceeded plan assets ($425.0 million) at April 30, 2021 resulting in a net 
pension plan deficit of $74.6 million.  Employee future benefits remeasurements resulted in a 
$11.4 million gain this year compared to a $14.6 million loss last year; the discount rate 
decreased from 5.70% to 5.25%.  Trent has received approval to join the University Pension 
Plan (UPP, a jointly sponsored pension plan established July 1, 2021) and is working diligently 
towards an effective conversion date of January 1, 2022.  Joining the UPP will eliminate the 
special solvency relief payments and pension benefits guarantee fund payments required for 
TUFA. 

Enterprise Risk Assessment: 
An external audit report provides full assurance to the users of the financial statements that 
the University’s accounting records are fair, complete and in adherence with generally 
accepted accounting principles, industry standards and regulatory requirements.  An 
external audit process ensures the University’s internal controls, processes, guidelines and 
policies are adequate, effective and in compliance with government requirements, industry 
standards and the institution’s policies, and that reporting mechanisms prevent material 
errors in financial statements. 
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Next Steps: 
For enhanced transparency and accountability, the annual Audited Financial Statements are 
posted on the University’s public website once approved by the Board of Governors. These 
statements are also shared with our primary bank lender and DBRS Limited, who performs 
our annual credit rating review.  As well, these statements are used as the basis for our 
annual submission to COFO. 

Alignment with Mission, Vision, Values, Strategic Plan: 
To fulfill their responsibilities, Governors should be informed of the University's financial 
situation.  The annual report on the Audited Financial Statements provides Governors with 
awareness of the University's current financial status, and allows for input and oversight 
where needed in alignment with Trent's mission to "foster sustainability, in its environmental, 
social and economic dimensions, on our campuses and in all aspects of our work" and 
Trent's Strategic Plan for "financial sustainability: exploring all means necessary to securing 
a healthy financial future". 

Consultation: 
The external audit of the University’s financial statements was conducted by KPMG, LLP. 

Compliance with Policy/Legislation: 
In accordance with The Trent University Act, 1962-63, section 31, the accounts of the 
University shall be audited at least once a year by an auditor appointed by the Board of 
Governors.  The financial statements of the University have been prepared by management 
in accordance with Part III of the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada (CPA 
Canada) Handbook which sets out generally accepted accounting principles for not-for-profit 
organizations in Canada. 

Supporting Reference Materials (attached): 
 

• Schedule A – 2020/2021 Audited Financial Statements 
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KPMG contacts 
The contacts at KPMG in connection with this report are: 

 

Lori Huber, CPA, CA, Licensed Public 
Accountant 

Lead Audit Engagement Partner 

Tel: (613) 541-7320 
lahuber@kpmg.ca 

  

 

Rebecca Prophet, CPA, CA, LPA 

Audit Senior Manager  

Tel: (613) 212-3748 
rprophet@kpmg.ca 

 

 

Steve Hu, CISA, CPA, CA 

Senior Manager, IT Audit 

Tel: (613) 212-3732 

stevehu@kpmg.ca 
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Executive summary 
Purpose of this report1 
The purpose of this Audit Findings Report is to assist you, as a member of the Audit and Investment Committee, in your review of the results of our audit of the 
financial statements (“financial statements”) as at and for the year ended April 30, 2021 for Trent University (“the University”). 

What’s new in 2021 

There have been significant changes in 2021, impacting the University’s 
business and financial reporting, as well as our audit: 

• COVID-19 pandemic  
• New CAS auditing standards  

Changes from the audit plan 

There have been no significant changes regarding our audit from the Audit 
Planning Report previously presented to you.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 This Audit Findings Report is intended solely for the information and use of Management and the Audit and Investment Committee and should not be used for any other purpose or any other party. 
KPMG shall have no responsibility or liability for loss or damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this Audit Findings Report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, and should 
not be used by, any third party or for any other purpose. 

Finalizing the audit 

As of September 17, 2021, we have completed the audit of the financial 
statements, with the exception of certain remaining procedures, which 
include amongst others: 

– Consultation with our Department of Professional Practice in relation to 
the recast of a prior period error; 

– Reviewing the 2022 forecasted results; 
– Completing our discussions with the Audit and Investment Committee; 
– Receipt of legal letters from the University’s solicitors; 
– Completion of subsequent event procedures up to the date of the 

Board of Governors meeting date; 
– Obtaining evidence of the Board’s approval of the financial statements; 

and 
– Obtaining the signed management representation letter. 

We will update the Audit and Investment Committee, and not solely the 
Chair, on significant matters, if any, arising from the completion of the 
audit, including the completion of the above procedures.  

Our auditors’ report will be dated upon the completion of any remaining 
procedures.  
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Executive summary (continued) 
Uncorrected differences 

We have not identified any uncorrected presentation and disclosure 
differences in respect of the financial statements. 

Significant accounting policies and practices 

There have been no initial selections of, or changes to, significant 
accounting policies and practices to bring to your attention. 

Control deficiencies  

We did not identify any control deficiencies that we determined to be 
significant deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting. 

Our annual management letter includes our current year observations 
along with a follow-up to observations made in the audit in previous years.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Audit quality indicators 

We have reviewed the audit quality indicators.  We have not identified any 
areas of concern.   

Independence 

We are independent with respect to the University, in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Canada.  
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What’s new in 2021  
COVID-19 pandemic 
In our Audit Planning Report we delivered in March 2021, we communicated our audit plan in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.  We adapted our audit to 
respond to the continued changes in your operations, including the impacts on financial reporting.  

Area of Impact Key Observations 

The University’s 
financial reporting 
impacts  
 

— We considered impacts to financial reporting due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the adequacy of disclosures currently in the 
financial statements. 

— In areas of the financial statements where estimates involved significant judgements, we evaluated whether the method, 
assumptions and data used by management to derive the accounting estimates, and their related financial statement 
disclosures were still appropriate per the relevant financial reporting framework given the changed economic conditions and 
increased estimation uncertainty. 

Materiality  
 

— We considered impacts to financial reporting on both the determination and the re-assessment of materiality for the audit of 
the financial statements. 

— Materiality has remained unchanged from the amount communicated in our audit planning report despite the decrease in total 
expenses during the year.  Materiality has a direct impact on our identification and assessment of risks of material 
misstatement and our response to such risks. 

Risk assessment 

— We performed a more thorough risk assessment specifically targeted at the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, including an 
assessment of fraud risk factors (i.e., conditions or events that may be indicative of an incentive/pressure to commit fraud, 
opportunities to commit fraud, rationalizations of committing fraud).  

— The University’s remote working environment necessitated certain changes to internal controls over financial reporting. As a 
result, we evaluated the design of the new relevant controls implemented in the control environment related to information, 
communication, and monitoring. 

— We did not identify any additional risks for material misstatement as a result of impacts to financial reporting, which required 
an audit response compared to the prior year. 
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What’s new in 2021 (continued) 
COVID-19 pandemic (continued) 
In our Audit Planning Report, we delivered in March 2021, we communicated our audit plan in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.  We adapted our audit to 
respond to the continued changes in your operations, including the impacts on financial reporting.  

Area of Impact Key Observations 

Working remotely 

— We completed all of the audit fieldwork entirely remotely.  We also used video conferencing and internally shared team sites to 
collaborate in real-time, both amongst the audit team as well as with management.  

— We used secure and innovative technologies to conduct walkthroughs and perform tests of controls.   

— We increased our professional skepticism when evaluating electronic evidence received to validate the authenticity and 
reliability of electronic information used as audit evidence. 

Direction and 
supervision of the 
audit 

— The senior manager and partner were actively involved in determining the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic had on the 
audit (as discussed above), including the impact on the University’s financial reporting.   

— The senior manager and partner implemented new supervision processes to deal with working in a remote environment, and 
our audit approach allowed us to manage the audit using meaningful milestones and frequent touch points. 

Substantive Testing - 
Response 

— We decreased our vouching threshold in testing payments made and processed subsequent to year-end to validate the 
completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities at year-end to ensure a proper cut-off was achieved.   

— As a result of the significant changes to the entity’s operations during the year as a result of COVID-19, we increased the 
precision of the acceptable difference in our substantive analytical procedures to address the decrease in non-tuition fee 
revenue. We performed detailed testing over the inputs in building our expectations given trend analysis was not expected to 
be predictive of current year results. 

— In response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Ministry provided the University with $6,473,700 in current year COVID funding 
of which $550,000 was deferred towards next fiscal year.  

CAS 540, Auditing 
Accounting Estimates 
and Related Disclosures 

— The new standard was applied on all estimates within the financial statements that had a risk of material misstatement due to 
estimation uncertainty and not just “key estimates”, “critical accounting estimates”, or “estimates with significant risk”. 

— The granularity and complexity of the new standard along with our interpretation of the application of that standard 
necessitated more planning and discussion and increased involvement of more senior members of the engagement team. 
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What’s new in 2021 (continued) 
New auditing standards 
The following new auditing standard that was effective for the current year had an impact on our audit. 

 Standard Key observations 

CAS 540, Auditing 
Accounting Estimates 
and Related 
Disclosures 
(continued) 

 

— We performed more granular risk assessments based on the elements making up accounting estimates such as the method, 
the assumptions used, the data used and the application of the method. 

— We considered the potential for management bias. 

— We assessed the degree of uncertainty, complexity, and subjectivity involved in making each accounting estimate to determine 
the level of audit response. 

— KPMG considered areas of estimation that included: 

— Employee future benefit liability – actuarial estimation of employee future benefits, including the pension benefit valuation 
— Investments – fair value 
— Capital assets & related deferred capital contributions – estimated useful life 
— Receivables – allowance for uncollectible accounts and refundable tuition 
— Payroll & accrued compensation accruals 
— Legal/HR accruals 

— We involved professionals with appropriate skills and knowledge to assist us in auditing certain estimates as appropriate. 

— In light of this new standard, we assessed the University’s employee future benefit liabilities and pension benefit as a complex 
estimate which required the most effort. Further detail has been provided on the following slide. 

— Based on the results of the work completed, a material error was uncovered in relation to the accounting of Employee Future 
Benefits. The methodology used by Management’s Engaged Experts was reviewed by KPMG Specialists and noted that a 
Provision for Adverse Deviation (PfAD) had not been included in the defined benefit obligation for the unfunded plans. The AcSB 
issued a clarification in March of 2019 stating that this provision should be included. The amount was significant, and it has been 
corrected for in the current year for both the 2021, and 2020 fiscal year as well as the opening balance at May 1,2019. See page 
13 for our documentation around corrected audit misstatements.   
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Complex accounting estimates 
Management is required to disclose information in the financial statements about the assumptions it makes about the future, and other major sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. Generally, these are considered to be “critical accounting estimates.” 

We have summarized our assessment of the subjective areas. 

Asset / Liability Balance ($’000’s) KPMG Comment 

Employee Future 
Benefits Liability 

$74,585 
(2020 - $91,017 - 
Recast) 

— The University has a significant employee future benefits liability, including both pension and non-
pension benefits. 

— The University uses the funding valuations to account for its liabilities associated with all employee 
future benefits. There were no changes to the accounting standards in the current year. 

— The valuations were performed by Aon, the University’s actuary where the most recent actuarial 
valuation of the faculty pension plan (TUFA) was performed as of January 1, 2021 and the results 
have been extrapolated to April 30, 2021. The most recent valuation for the non-faculty pension 
plan (OPSEU) is as of July 1, 2020 and the results have been extrapolated to April 30, 2021. 

— Given the most recent valuation for TUFA occurred as of January 1, 2021, the employee data 
provided to the actuary for the actuarial valuation of the faculty pension was tested as part of the 
current year audit with no discrepancies noted. The data used in the non-faculty pension plan was 
tested as part of the 2020 audit, which was the year of the full valuation. 

— As management utilized an expert in preparing the actuarial valuations, KPMG assessed the 
professional competence and objectivity of management’s expert and employed the use of our own 
actuarial specialists. The KPMG actuarial specialists identified that management’s expert had been 
basing their calculations on an incorrect assumption. As such, an audit misstatement arose from 
the work under this standard in the current year with the change related to a clarification published 
by the AcSB in March of 2019. See further discussion on the misstatement (page 13). 

— KPMG reviewed the disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. We believe management’s 
process for estimating the employee future benefits liability is appropriate. Based on our audit 
procedures, KPMG believes that the revised account balances are reasonable as at year-end. 
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Audit risks and results 
We highlight our significant findings in respect of significant financial reporting risks as identified in our discussion with you in the Audit Plan, as well as any 
additional significant financial reporting risks identified.  

Significant financial reporting risk New or changed? Estimate? 

Fraud risk from management override of controls No No 

Our response   

Management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of management’s ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial 
statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Although the risk of management override of controls will vary from 
entity to entity, the risk is nevertheless present in all entities. 
 
We took the following steps to address this risk as required under professional standards: 

—  Evaluated the design and implementation of controls surrounding journal entries and other adjustments; 

—  Determined criteria to identify high-risk journal entries and other adjustments; and  

—  Tested high-risk journal entries and other adjustments made at the end of the reporting period. 

Significant findings 

During our test work, we noted that certain journal entries were not reviewed and approved prior to input into the general ledger system. In addition, there is 
currently no formal requirement to document reviews of journal entries. KPMG has included this as a management letter point on page 33. 
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Significant accounting policies and practices 
 

Initial selections 

There were no new significant accounting policies and practices that were selected and applied during the period. 

 
Changes 

There were no changes to significant accounting policies and practices.   

 Future Implementation 

No concerns regarding future implementation. 

 Significant qualitative aspects of the University’s accounting policies and practices  

There are no items to report.   
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Financial statement presentation and disclosure 
Misstatements, including omissions, if any, related to financial statement presentation and disclosure items are in the management representation letter. 

We also highlight the following: 

Form, arrangement, and 
content of the financial 
statements 

We believe the financial statement presentation and disclosure are adequate. 

At year-end we provided feedback to management on the financial statements, and the notes thereto (including the impact of 
COVID-19 note and correction of errors). Minor wording suggestions and updates were provided to management which have all 
been adopted in the draft financial statements presented. 

Significant qualitative 
aspects of financial 
statement presentation 
and disclosure 

Nothing to report. 
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Other matters 
Professional standards require us to communicate to the Audit and Investment Committee other matters. 

We have highlighted the following that we would like to bring to your attention: 

Matter KPMG comment 

Cyber Security 
Inquiries 

— KPMG Cyber Partner, Imaan Bashir, held meetings with the University’s IT department to cyber security and maturity in the 
current year. 

— KPMG IT Professional, Steve Hu, gained an understanding of the entity level controls around the general IT environment 
and a follow-up on potential impacts of COVID-19 on these controls. 

— We will continue regular and active conversations with management on these topics and trends in the sector. 

Indirect Tax Matters — As part of our efforts to provide value for our audit clients, KPMG prepared an Indirect Tax Questionnaire that is intended to 
assess potential indicators of indirect tax risk. The questionnaire is revisited annually and builds on the common indirect tax 
issues we are seeing in the higher education sector over the past year.  

— Given the trends in the sector and current environment, we recommend that management continue to explore any new or 
changing relationships to best understand any potential exposure with respect to indirect tax matters such as related 
parties, vendor relationships and international contracts. Indirect Tax Partners Raj Sharma and Jennifer Boychuck met with 
management to discuss risks and opportunities specific to education and specifically an opportunity with a Section 211 
election. 

Mobility Services — As a result of the COVID-19 Pandemic, the shift towards a remote and/or hybrid work environment has been accelerated, 
and until recently, many organizations were still evaluating these ideas by collecting employee feedback, conducting 
internal stakeholder meetings, and slowly building out new policies. 

— Laura Tippett from KPMG Global Mobility Services met with management and discussed some of the results from KPMG’s 
CEO Outlook survey outlining perceived opportunities, risks, but also key areas of compliance (i.e. income and social tax 
compliance, employment law, payroll tax, etc.). 

Lean in Audit ™  — Lean in Audit is KPMG’s unique approach to improve audit value, quality and productivity to help deliver real insights for our 
clients. 

— In the current year, KPMG completed a Lean in Audit ™ workshop for the procurement process which originated with 
process holders in the shipping/receiving dock through to finance to encompass end to end user input. This allowed KPMG 
to identify some duplication of effort and efficiencies, areas of improvement along with control observation opportunities. 
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Uncorrected differences and corrected adjustments 
As you will recall from our Audit Planning Report, materiality for fiscal 2021 was set at $3,000,000 for the financial statements and to respond to aggregation 
risk we used a performance materiality of $2,250,000 at the financial statement caption level. The thresholds set translated into an audit misstatement posting 
threshold of $150,000.  As such, all misstatements identified during the audit greater than $150,000 have been recorded on our summary of adjustments and 
differences.   

Adjustments and differences identified during the audit have been categorized as “Corrected adjustments” or “Uncorrected differences”. These include 
disclosure adjustments and differences.  

Professional standards require that we request of management and the Audit and Investment Committee that all identified adjustments or differences be 
corrected. We have already made this request of management. 

Uncorrected differences 
We did not identify differences that remain uncorrected. 

Corrected adjustments 
The engagement team identified a misstatement related to the calculation of the Employee Future Benefits obligation. In March of 2019, the Accounting 
Standards Board issued a clarification which indicated that a provision for adverse deviation should be accounted for not only for funded plans, but also 
unfunded plans. Upon review of the calculations, methods, and assumptions made by Management’s Actuary, we noted that this was not accounted for 
properly in management’s estimate of the liability.   
 
As a result, the financial statements were adjusted in both the current year and restated for the prior years to consider the date the clarification was issued and 
the impact on opening net assets for the 2019-2020 fiscal year.  
  
The management representation letter includes all adjustments identified as a result of the audit, communicated to management and subsequently corrected 
in the financial statements. 
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Control deficiencies  
In accordance with professional standards, we are required to communicate to those charged with governance significant deficiencies in internal control over 
financial reporting (ICFR) that we identified during our audit. 

The purpose of our audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements.  

Our audit included consideration of ICFR in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR.  

The matters being reported are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to 
merit being reported to those charged with governance and to meet professional standards. 

Significant deficiencies 

 Description Potential effect 

We have not identified any significant deficiencies.   N/A 

Other observations 
Description Potential effect 

Please refer to Appendix 1 for our management letter with respect to control observations noted 
through the course of the audit along with a follow-up on matters identified in previous years. 

N/A 
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Appendix 1: Other Required Communications 
Auditors’ Report Representations of management 

The signed auditor’s report will be provided upon the approval of the 
financial statements by the Board, receipt of the signed management 
representation letter from management and completion of all required 
audit procedures.    

In accordance with professional standards, copies of the management 
representation letter is provided to the Audit and Investment Committee.  The 
management representation letter is attached for your review.   
 

Audit Quality in Canada Matters pertaining to independence 

The reports available through the following links were published by the 
Canadian Public Accountability Board to inform audit committees and other 
stakeholders about the results of quality inspections conducted over the 
past year: 

• CPAB Audit Quality Insights Report: 2020 Interim Inspection Results 
• CPAB Audit Quality Insights Report: 2019 Annual Inspections Results 
Visit our Audit Quality Resources page for more information including 
access to our Transparency report 
 

In accordance with professional standards, we confirm our independence in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Canada.   

Item 5.0 - 2020-2021 Audited Financial Statements BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 72 of 109

https://www.cpab-ccrc.ca/docs/default-source/inspections-reports/2020-interim-inspections-report-en.pdf?sfvrsn=f5ae8854_18
https://www.cpab-ccrc.ca/docs/default-source/inspections-reports/2020-interim-inspections-report-en.pdf?sfvrsn=f5ae8854_18
https://cpab-ccrc.ca/docs/default-source/inspections-reports/2019-annual-inspections-results-en.pdf
https://home.kpmg.com/ca/en/home/services/audit/audit-quality-resources.html
https://home.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/ca/pdf/2020/12/2020-audit-quality-and-transparency-report.pdf


 

 Audit Findings Report  P a g e  | 17 

Draft Auditors’ Report 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
To the Board of Governors of Trent University 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Trent University, which comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at April 30, 2021 

• the statement of operations for the year then ended 

• the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies  

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Trent University as at April 30, 2021, and its results of operations, its changes in net assets, and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations.  

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements” section of our report.  

We are independent of Trent University in accordance with the applicable independence standards, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these standards.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information, other than 
the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in Trent University’s Summary of Revenue 
and Expense- All Funds and Summary of Operating Fund (“annual report”).   

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other 
information appears to be materially misstated. 
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We obtained the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in 
Trent University’s annual report as at the date of this auditors’ report. 

If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing Trent University’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate Trent University or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Trent University’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the University’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

Item 5.0 - 2020-2021 Audited Financial Statements BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 74 of 109



 

 Audit Findings Report  P a g e  | 19 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the University’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the University to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.   

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Kingston, Canada 

October 8, 2021 
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Management Representation Letter 
KPMG LLP 
863 Princess Street, Suite 400 
Kingston, Ontario  K7L 5N4 
Canada 

October 8, 2021 
 
We are writing at your request to confirm our understanding that your audit was for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the financial statements (hereinafter referred to as “financial statements”) of the Trent University 
(“the University”) as at and for the period ended April 30, 2021. 

General: 

We confirm that the representations we make in this letter are in accordance with the definitions as set out in 
Attachment I to this letter. 

We also confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered 
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Responsibilities: 

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the engagement letter dated November 16, 
2020 including for: 

a) the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and believe that these financial 
statements have been prepared and present fairly in accordance with the relevant financial 
reporting framework. 

b) providing you with all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements (“relevant information”), such as financial records, documentation and other 
matters, including: 

— the names of all related parties and information regarding all relationships and transactions 
with related parties;   

— the complete minutes of meetings, or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which 
minutes have not yet been prepared, of board of governors and committees of the board of 
governors that may affect the financial statements. All significant actions are included in such 
summaries. 

c) providing you with unrestricted access to such relevant information. 

d) providing you with complete responses to all enquiries made by you during the engagement. 

e) providing you with additional information that you may request from us for the purpose of the 
engagement. 

f) providing you with unrestricted access to persons within the Entity from whom you determined it 
necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

g) such internal control as we determined is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. We also 
acknowledge and understand that we are responsible for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud. 
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h) ensuring that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in 
the financial statements. 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

2) We have communicated to you all deficiencies in the design and implementation or maintenance of 
internal control over financial reporting of which we are aware. 

Fraud & non-compliance with laws and regulations: 

3) We have disclosed to you: 

a) the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated 
as a result of fraud. 

b) all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of that involves:  

— management; 

— employees who have significant roles in internal control over financial reporting; or  

— others 

where such fraud or suspected fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

c) all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial 
statements, communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, or others. 

d) all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, 
including all aspects of contractual agreements, whose effects should be considered when 
preparing financial statements. 

e) all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements. 

Subsequent events: 

4) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the relevant financial 
reporting framework requires adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements have been adjusted 
or disclosed. 

Related parties: 

5) We have disclosed to you the identity of the University’s related parties. 

6) We have disclosed to you all the related party relationships and transactions/balances of which we are 
aware. 

7) All related party relationships and transactions/balances have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework. 

Estimates: 

8) The methods, the data and the significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, and their 
related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement or disclosure that is 
reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework. 

Going concern: 

9) We have provided you with all information relevant to the use of the going concern assumption in the 
financial statements. 

10) We confirm that we are not aware of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt upon the University’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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Misstatements: 

11) We approve the corrected misstatements identified by you during the audit described in Attachment II. 

Other information: 

12) We confirm that the final version of the annual report will be provided to you when available, and prior 
to issuance by the Entity, to enable you to complete your audit procedures in accordance with 
professional standards. 

Non-SEC registrants or non-reporting issuers: 

13) We confirm that the Entity is not a Canadian reporting issuer (as defined under any applicable 
Canadian securities act) and is not a United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
Issuer (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).  

14) We also confirm that the financial statements of the Entity will not be included in the group financial 
statements of a Canadian reporting issuer audited by KPMG or an SEC Issuer audited by any member 
of the KPMG organization. 

Yours very truly, 

TRENT UNIVERSITY 
 

 

___________________________________________________ 
By: Ms. Cheryl Turk, Associate Vice-President, Finance 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________________________                                  
By: Mr. Tariq Al-idrissi, Vice President, Finance & Administration (A) 
 

 
 

 

cc: Audit and Investment Committee
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Attachment I – Definitions 
Materiality 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. 
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by 
the size or nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both. 

Fraud & error 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or 
disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of a University’s assets. It is often accompanied by false or 
misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or have been 
pledged without proper authorization. 
An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an amount or a 
disclosure. 
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Attachment II – Summary of Audit Misstatements 
 

Summary of corrected audit misstatements 

 Statement of Financial Position effect2  

Description 

Assets 
(000s) 

$ 

Liabilities 
(000s) 

$ 

Net Assets 
(000s) 

$ 

Statement of 
Operations 
(000s)1 

$ 

Net Change in 
Statement of 
Net Assets 
(000s)1 
$ 

Audit misstatements greater than  
$150,000 individually    

 
 

Dr. Unrestricted net deficit 
Dr. Salaries and benefits 
Cr. Employee future benefit remeasurement  
Cr.  Employee future benefit liability 
To correct the employee future benefit liability 
balance in the current year 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

(2,648) 

2,673 
197 

(186) 
- 
 

- 
197 

- 
- 

  2,637 
197 

(186) 
- 
 

 
Dr. Accounts receivable 
Cr. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
To reclassify funds held in trust 

339 
                 - 

              - 
(339) 

                   -  
- 

- 
- 

 - 
- 

 

TOTAL CORRECTED AUDIT 
MISSTATEMENTS 

339 (2,987) 
 

2,648 
 

197 2,648 
 

Financial statement amounts 401,375 (310,730) (90,645) 185,253 6,718 
Percentage of financial statement amounts 0.08% 0.96% 2.92% 0.11% 39.95% 

 
 

 

 

 
 

1  Debit (Credit) 
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Management Letter 
 

 

 

KPMG LLP 
863 Princess Street, Suite 400 
Kingston ON K7L 5N4 Canada 
Telephone 613-549-1550 
Fax 613-549-6349 
 
 
Mr. Tariq Al-idrissi 
Vice-President, Finance and Administration (A) 
Trent University 
1600 West Bank Drive 
PO Box 4800 
Peterborough, ON K9J 7B8 
 
September 27, 2021 
 
Dear Mr. Al-idrissi: 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Trent University ("the 
University") for the period ended April 30, 2021, we obtained an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting (ICFR) relevant to the University’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on ICFR. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the University’s ICFR.  
 
Our consideration of ICFR was for the limited purpose described above and was not designed to 
identify all control deficiencies that might be significant deficiencies and therefore, there can be no 
assurance that all significant deficiencies and other control deficiencies have been identified. As a 
result, any matters reported below are limited to those deficiencies in ICFR that we identified during 
the audit. 
 
Our awareness of control deficiencies varies with each audit and is influenced by the nature, 
timing, and extent of audit procedures performed, as well as other factors. 
 
IDENTIFICATION 
 
We did not identify control deficiencies that we determined to be significant deficiencies in ICFR. 
 
Refer to the Appendix A for the definitions of various control deficiencies. 
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Refer to Appendix B for our follow up on observations identified in the prior year. 
 
Refer to Appendix C for observations identified in the current year. 
 
USE OF LETTER 
 
This letter is for the use of management and those charged with governance in carrying out and 
discharging their responsibilities and should not be used for any other purpose or anyone other 
than management and those changed with governance. KPMG shall have no responsibility or 
liability for loss or damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this letter has not been 
prepared for, and is not intended for, and should not be used by, any third party or for any other 
purpose.  
 
Yours very truly, 

 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
cc: Audit and Investment Committee   

  

Item 5.0 - 2020-2021 Audited Financial Statements BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 82 of 109



 

 Audit Findings Report  P a g e  | 27 

Appendix A - Definitions of Various Control Deficiencies 
 

Terminology Definition 

DEFICIENCY IN INTERNAL CONTROL  A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a 
control does not allow management or employees, in the normal 
course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect 
misstatements on a timely basis. A deficiency in design exists when 
(a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is missing; or (b) 
an existing control is not properly designed so that, even if the control 
operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A 
deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does 
not operate as designed or the person performing the control does not 
possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control 
effectively.  

SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY IN 
INTERNAL CONTROL 

A significant deficiency in internal control is a deficiency or 
combination of deficiencies in internal control that, in the auditor’s 
professional judgment, is of sufficient importance to merit the attention 
of those charged with governance. 

 

Item 5.0 - 2020-2021 Audited Financial Statements BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 83 of 109



 

 Audit Findings Report   P a g e  | 28 

Appendix B- Follow up on Prior Year Observations 

2018 OBSERVATIONS  

Capital Assets 

2018 Description 2018 Potential Effect 2020 Update 2021 Update 

We recommend that a formal capital 
asset policy is developed and 
approved by the Audit and 
Investment Committee. The policy 
change should be implemented on a 
prospective basis. 

KPMG noted there is still no formal 
capital asset policy, however, notes 
that a capitalization threshold is 
included in the University’s 
Procurement of Goods and Services 
Policy. 

Management is in the process of 
creating a policy however it has not 
yet been finalized. 

The Capital Asset Management 
Policy was finalized in March of 
2021, and as such we consider this 
item closed. 

Capital projects and amortization are 
tracked and calculated in an Excel 
file. This spreadsheet is prone to 
error and does not provide detailed 
records to appropriately track capital 
assets. 

 

We recommend that the Fixed Asset 
Module be used to track individual 
capital assets within the general 
ledger to increase the accuracy of 
reporting capital assets. 

The process remains the same for 
tracking of amortization. Equipment 
and other assets are tracked via 
their GL system; however, buildings 
are still completed manually via 
Excel sheets. As part of the 
University's work to comply with the 
componentization of assets, this is 
something management plans to 
address in the upcoming fiscal year. 

Buildings have now been entered 
into Colleague for April 30, 2021.  

Since all asset classes are in 
Colleague, amortization is now being 
calculated through the system.  

However, current capital projects, 
including the WIP, are still tracked 
using an excel workbook. 
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Appendix B- Follow up on Prior Year Observations (continued) 

2018 OBSERVATIONS (continued) 

Payroll 

 

 

 

  

2018 Description 2018 Potential Effect 2020 Update 2021 Update 

The vacation accrual is calculated 
based on a percentage of payroll 
rather than actual vacation balances 
at year-end due to inherent 
limitations in the payroll system to 
appropriately track vacation. 

 

We recommend that the actual 
vacation amounts owing to salaried 
employees be investigated and 
documented. Moving forward, a 
clear process for documenting 
salaried vacation should be 
implemented with compliance 
monitored on a regular basis. We 
further recommend that the vacation 
accrual amounts be updated on a 
monthly basis using the actual 
vacation balance per employee.  

Implementation of HRIS system 
(effective November 2019) allows 
the University to track and expense 
vacation as it is earned, which 
releases the liability as an 
automated process. This new 
process is now in place and a 
favorable year-end adjustment of 
approximately $170,000 was made 
for this liability to align with this new 
automated process. 

Because the system accrues 
vacation at the current year rate, but 
pays vacation out at the next years' 
wage rate, adjustment will be 
required each year to ensure 
appropriate amount of liability is 
recorded at year end. 

There remains a timing difference at 
year-end for which a review occurs 
to ensure the accurate amount is 
accrued. There were no issues or 
adjustments identified in the current 
year and as such we consider this 
item closed. 
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Appendix B- Follow up on Prior Year Observations (continued) 

2020 OBSERVATIONS 

Information Technology 

2020 Description 2020 Potential Effect 2020 Recommendation 2021 Update 

KPMG performed a walkthrough of the 
cyber security process that is 
undertaken at Trent University for all 
employees. 

During this process, KPMG noted that 
Trent requires information security 
awareness training as part of the 
employee onboarding process. 
Organization-wide employee on-
boarding, department level training and 
general cybersecurity awareness 
training are keys to improving the 
human factor within an organization’s 
cyber scope. KPMG noted however 
that the cyber awareness training is 
not refreshed annually by university 
staff, faculty and contractors.  

As a large portion of cyber breaches 
and leaks are generally initiated with 
some form of socially engineered 
manipulation of employees or 
contractors, it is imperative to ensure 
that cyber awareness training is 
refreshed at least annually. 

KPMG recommends that the 
University implements annual 
updated training courses to all staff 
and employees relating to cyber 
security and cyber awareness. 

This will help reduce the risk of cyber-
attacks and data leaks relating to 
Trent University’s sensitive data being 
breached. 

Although cyber awareness training is 
not refreshed annually by university 
staff, faculty and contractors, Trent 
University’s approach to cyber 
education and awareness focuses on 
emerging threats and uses simulated 
phishing and cybersecurity 
campaigns to achieve this. 

Due to the prevalence of at-home 
working, Trent University launched 
the Safe at Home Cyber Security 
Campaign.  This campaign provided 
the tools and knowledge necessary to 
teach, work, or learn remotely in a 
more secure way.  

As these serve as mitigating controls, 
KPMG considers this issue to be 
closed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item 5.0 - 2020-2021 Audited Financial Statements BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 86 of 109



 

 Audit Findings Report   P a g e  | 31 

Appendix B- Follow up on Prior Year Observations (continued) 

Payroll 

2020 Description 2020 Potential Effect 2020 Recommendation 2021 Update 

KPMG performed a walkthrough of 
the new payroll process in the new 
HRIS. 

During the walkthrough, KPMG 
noted that while a robust validation 
process was performed, the same 
individual performing the validation 
check was responsible for the 
approval of the payroll run.  

This gives rise to increased risk of 
error from self-review and potential 
risk of fraud resulting from 
inadequate segregation of duties. 

KPMG recommends implementing 
a formal review/approval control 
with appropriate segregation of 
duties prior to execution of the 
payroll run. 

A formal hierarchical/secondary 
review will help to reduce the risk of 
error and potential risk of fraud 
within the payroll process. 

It is noted that until the Recruitment 
module is rolled out, Payroll will continue 
to enter new hires and revise any 
information within the HRIS system for the 
majority of the University. HR does 
currently set up OPSEU and Exempt 
positions. The Recruitment module should 
then add the additional control of how new 
hires are being added to the system. 

There is a compensating control in place 
with a payroll review, but concerns remain 
related to the segregation of duties of this 
related control. 

Operating expenses 

2020 Description 2020 Potential Effect 2020 Recommendation 2021 Update 

We performed testing over 
operating expenses, and some of 
the items selected for testing 
through our statistical sampling 
plan were expenses incurred in 
USD. Per review of the currency 
exchange from USD to CAD, it was 
noted foreign currency are being 
translated at the monthly opening 
rate per the Bank of Montreal. 

 

Using the monthly opening rate 
results in larger variations and 
discrepancies in total expense values 
than would otherwise be expected if 
the University were to use the daily 
average foreign exchange rate, 
consistent with other Universities 
policies. 

KPMG recommends the Daily 
Average Rate per the Bank of 
Canada should be used in 
translating invoices and payments 
to CAD when recording items in the 
GL. For practical purposes, 
updating the rate in the system at 
least twice a month would reduce 
the variability from the current 
monthly practice. 

This change in policy will align the 
University with other Universities 
and will continue to improve the 
accuracy of the data recorded.  

Foreign exchange rates are updates on a 
weekly basis by the Manager of Financial 
Services. As this serves to improve the 
accuracy of financial reporting, KPMG 
considers this issue to be closed. 
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Appendix C- Current Year Observations 

2021 OBSERVATIONS 

Research Expenses  

2021 Description 2021 Potential Effect 2021 Recommendation 

While completing testing of research expenses KPMG 
noted an invoice relating to F20 included in FY21 
expenses. This was likely result of the invoice not being 
received by the University until the summer. This is 
somewhat mitigated by PO system where it will note if 
goods have been received in some instances before the 
invoice which would help mitigate cut-off issues for larger 
purchases. However, for the invoices without a PO (as with 
the one tested as part of research expense testing), there 
is no proper process in place to ensure correct cut-off at 
year-end. 

Improper cut-off can result in the 
inappropriate inclusion or exclusion of 
expenses in the financial reporting 
period, resulting in a misstatement of 
expenses. 

KPMG recommends that the University implements 
a formal cut-off policy to ensure all the expenses 
relating to the applicable financial reporting period 
are captured. 

 

Payroll 
 

2021 Description 2021 Potential Effect 2021 Recommendation 

KPMG notes as part of the payroll process that once a pay 
is processed, the University will run a pay error report 
which highlights errors based on actual pay.  

KPMG notes that these reports were not run until the pay 
period ending October 31, 2020. Additionally, KPMG notes 
that when these reports were run for pay periods, there 
was no evidence of review on the reports themselves. 

This gives rise to increased risk of error 
from the lack of the control being 
performed, self-review and potential risk 
of management override of controls 
resulting from inadequate segregation of 
duties. 

KPMG recommends that the University implements 
documentation to evidence adequate segregation 
of duties are maintained when resolving errors in 
the pay.  

In addition, the pay error report should be run for 
each pay to ensure the effectiveness of the control. 
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Appendix C- Current Year Observations (continued) 

2021 OBSERVATIONS (continued) 

Bank 

Journal Entries 

 

2021 Description 2021 Potential Effect 2021 Recommendation 

During testing, KPMG noted that the payroll bank 
reconciliation contained stale-dated cheques totaling 
$23,697 relating to the previous fiscal year. 

The Canadian Payments Association 
says cheques are stale-dated after six 
months unless certified. A stale-dated 
cheque is not necessarily invalid. 
Financial institutions may still honour 
them but they are not required to 
honour them. 

We recommend that management investigate any 
cheques left outstanding for six months or more.  
This would provide a more accurate accounting of 
the cash accounts.   

  

2021 Description 2021 Potential Effect 2021 Recommendation 

During testing of journal entries, KPMG noted that certain 
journal entries were not reviewed and approved prior to 
input into the general ledger system. As well, there is 
currently no formal requirement to document the review of 
journal entries. 

 

This observation included journal entries to capitalize 
expenses as part of the year-end financial statement close. 

The absence of a review increases the 
risk of inaccurate or inappropriate 
journal entries being posted into the 
system, thereby compromising the 
integrity of the University’s financial 
reporting. 

KPMG recommends that all journal entries should 
be approved by a senior member of the Finance 
team prior to input into the general ledger system.  

Unusual entries of a material amount should be 
reviewed by the Senior Manager Financial 
Services.  

Adequate documentation supporting the entry 
should be attached to allow the reviewer to 
perform an effective review. 

The review should be documented by signing the 
journal entry or by form of email. 
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Appendix 2: How do we deliver audit quality?  
Quality essentially means doing the right thing and remains our highest priority. Our Global Quality Framework outlines how we deliver quality and how 
every partner and staff member contributes to its delivery. 

    

Doing the right thing. Always. 

‘Perform quality engagements’ sits at the core along with 
our commitment to continually monitor and remediate to fulfil 
on our quality drivers.  

Our quality value drivers are the cornerstones to our approach 
underpinned by the supporting drivers and give clear direction 
to encourage the right behaviours in delivering audit quality. 

We define ‘audit quality’ as being the outcome when: 

– audits are executed consistently, in line with the 
requirements and intent of applicable professional 
standards within a strong system of quality controls; and  

– all of our related activities are undertaken in an environment 
of the utmost level of objectivity, independence, ethics, 
and integrity.  

Transparency report      
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Appendix 3: Future of Higher Education 
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Future of Higher 
Education
Current trends in higher education

KPMG.ca
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Technology

Demography

Financial 
Sustainability

The Age of the 
Customer

The Environment

The underlying drivers of change for Higher Education 
COVID-19 has accelerated the demographic, economic, geo-political and social drivers of change that were already 
impacting higher education. 

Technology has long been at the forefront of discussions around the future of higher education.  The sudden shift to online education has only hastened the speed 
to which technological changes are being adopted in all industries world wide, Education being one of the main sectors grappling with what must be done today to 
prepare for tomorrow.

Demographics in Canada have been impacting higher education institutions for the past decade and will continue to impact Canadian institutions for another decade 
to come.  Canadian demographics might never return to the highs seen in the 2000’s for the traditional 18-24 year-old student market.

The financial instability created by the COVID-19 pandemic’s initial shock has not come to fruition for many institutions in Canada.  However, the increasing 
economic toll of the pandemic around the globe and in every Province and Territory of Canada will be felt by institutions for years to come.

The Age of the Consumer has begun to impact educational institutions.  The demands of students, governments, funders, alumni, employers and the general public 
have exponentially increased in recent years, and the impact on this sector is just beginning.

The potential implications of climate change pervade the whole world, as do the implications of policies designed to address global warming. We can expect 
enormous opportunities for research to enhance our understanding of the situation and the efficacy of policy. Similarly, technologies that will help us to live and work 
differently, ideally towards zero net emissions, will likely be based on discoveries by universities and research institutes. Institutions themselves, as public purpose 
organizations, will need to be exemplars, reducing their emissions from campus operations and doing things differently.

The drivers of change affecting us all – and intersecting at education.  These are not simply triggers of change.
They will have a continuing effect in shaping that change and what institutions may look like in the future.

Item 5.0 - 2020-2021 Audited Financial Statements BOARD OPEN SESSION - October 8 2021 
Page 93 of 109



Impact of the  underlying drivers of change for Higher Education 

Technology Demography Financial 
Sustainability

Age of the 
Consumer

Environment

− System 
implementations

− Cyber security risks

− Institution wide IT 
strategies

− Future classroom 
technology needs

− Digitization of 
student services

− Technology driven 
student experience

− Continued decline in 
school aged 
population

− Lengthening of career 
duration

− Shifting focus to life-
long learning

− Economic weakness

− Increasing need for re-
training

− Increase in need for 
non-traditional student 
services

− Decreasing 
Government funding

− Deferred 
maintenance 

− Asset monetization

− Increasing cost/need 
for technology 
investment

− Increasing financial 
need of students

− Changes to research 
funding

− Increasing demand for 
personalization

− Competing 
stakeholder needs

− Rise of “online” 
competitors

− Increasing choice of 
institutions for 
international students

− Shift from teaching to 
learning supported by 
technology

− Student demand for 
sustainable 
organizations

− Pressure for 
sustainable investing

− Environmentally driven 
decision making

− Demand for 
environmental, 
sustainability and 
governance reporting 
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How are Institutions coping?
For all the change that is currently impacting institutions, there are significant opportunities for the sector to re-image itself 
in such a way to allow it to not only survive, but thrive in the future that is now knocking on their doorstep. 

Current Trends in higher education:
− Strategy refresh/rethink to prepare for the needs of the future, including workplace and workforce assessments

− Implementation of new classroom models as the shift from teaching to learning continues

− Significant IT implementations, with appropriate governance and quality assurance
− Creation of new campus master plans to account for the changing needs of students, the environment, needs of the 

stakeholders and the economy

− Operational improvements being driven through increased use of technology and process optimization

− Monetization of real estate to provide much needed capital for investment in technology and infrastructure
− Enhanced reporting and disclosure of ESG metrics and the overall impact on the environment through the creation of 

sustainability goals and metrics.
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The Future of Higher Education 
in a Disruptive World

The future of higher education in a disruptive world - KPMG Canada (home.kpmg)
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University
Next Steps
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The Sub-Committee Motions to seek A&I Approval 
on the following items in order to proceed;
• Asset Mix

• ESG Considerations 

• Segregated or Pooled fund management

• Passive vs Active 

• Style Bias

• Begin 5 Manager Searches
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Recommendation The Sub-Committee held meetings on Friday, September 10 and Tuesday, 
September 14, 2021 to review the asset mix decision for the two plans and selected option D from the 
comprehensive report prepared by LifeWorks.  This asset mix may also provide flexibility to change the 
spending policy (see appendix).

Confidentiel – Ne pas distribuer 3

Option D (25% fixed income/ 50% equities / 25 % alts.)

• Significantly improves all risk metrics
• Significant exposure to equities and 

alternatives provides a good inflation hedge
• Core Plus bonds provide additional return 

with less risk compared to universe bonds
• Depending on risk tolerance, 

spending could be increased

*Given the size of the funds, global equities 
and EM equities will be combined into a 
single global equities mandate (that will 
include US, international and EM equities)

**Given the limited number of options 
available for global real estate managers, 
Canadian real estate will also be considered 
to achieve the real estate exposure

Current Mix Option D

Expected Return 4.4% 5.4%

Standard Deviation 8.0% 7.6%

Sharpe Ratio 0.44 0.60

25.0%

10.00%

30.00%

10.0%

12.5%

12.5%
Canadian Core Plus Bonds

Canadian Equities

Global Equities*

EM Equities*

Global Real Estate**

Infrastructure

Notes on methodology:
• Based on 10 years economic assumptions

as of June 30, 2021

Implementation considerations:
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(E) Environmental

(S) Social

(G) Governance   

Investment Beliefs:  Prioritizing a commitment socially 
and ecologically responsible investments (ESG)

4

• During the manager search 
process Lifeworks will 
investigate how each 
manager prioritizes a 
commitment to  responsible 
investments (ESG) and 
gauge how the manager 
would fit with the needs of 
Trent.  This approach 
applies to all funds within 
the portfolio.
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ESG Implementation

Pooled Fund Structure
• Assets are comingled with 

other investors
• The manager invests and 

manages to the best interest of 
all investors

• The Pooled Fund Policy 
Statement dictates the 
management of assets

Segregated Fund Structure
• Assets are managed 

separately from investors
• The manager invests and 

manages in your best 
interests

• Your Investment Policy 
Statement dictates the 
management of assets

5

• The assets will be invested in pooled funds initially, as an ESG policy develops, Trent may 
want to change to a segregated approach.  Segregated is more costly and may be 
considered on an asset class by asset class approach if needed.
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Active vs. Passive

6

20 Year Annualized Performance of Passive Index vs. Active Peers*

*Peer universes reflect eVestment ‘Large Cap’ peers for each respective region. Data as of March 31, 2021.

Canada Emerging Markets Global US Canadian Fixed Income

Equity Market Passive Index 7.4% 8.8% 5.8% 7.3% 5.0%
5th Percentile 11.8% 13.4% 10.1% 10.5% 5.6%

1st Quartile 9.8% 10.8% 8.4% 8.9% 5.4%
Median 9.0% 10.1% 7.2% 8.1% 5.3%

3rd Quartile 8.2% 9.7% 6.4% 7.3% 5.2%
95th Percentile 7.4% 9.1% 5.5% 6.0% 4.8%
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• The Sub-Committee believe there is an opportunity for active managers to outperform (add 
value “alpha”), potentially lower volatility and potentially provide better downside protection.
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Growth Vs Value

7
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Growth/Value in the US Equity Market*

*Chart reflects the relative performance of Russell 1000 Growth Index / Russell 1000 Value Index. 
Data as of March 31, 2021.

• The relative performance of growth stocks vs. value 
stocks has proven to be highly cyclical over time, with 
each investment style undergoing prolonged periods 
of relative out- and underperformance.

• Different market environments will favor different 
investment styles over time, therefore we prefer to 
invest with asset managers who are able to navigate 
across these environments or utilize multiple 
managers such that the exposure to any one 
investment style is reduced.

• A diversified approach to portfolio construction aims to 
balance the exposure to different investment styles 
and allow for manager skill to drive excess returns for 
the total portfolio, rather than a single investment.

• In conducting the manager searches the Sub-Committee will select the best in class
manager regardless of style bias. This will include growth, value, core and GARP (growth 
at a reasonable price) strategies.
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If recommendation approved…

Implement revised
equity portfolio

• Amend SIPP to reflect new target asset allocation

• Proceed with a global equity manager search given the size of the funds, global equities 
and EM equities will be combined into a single global equities mandate (that will 
include US, international and EM equities).  Due to the size of the mandate there will 
be an option to select two managers.

• Proceed with a Canadian equity manager search

Implement revised
fixed income portfolio

• Amend SIPP to reflect new target asset allocation

• Proceed with a Canadian Core Plus bonds manager search

Implement
alternatives portfolio

• Amend SIPP to reflect new target asset allocation

• Proceed with a Canadian/global real estate manager search given the limited number of 
options available for global real estate managers, Canadian real estate will also be 
considered to achieve the real estate exposure

• Proceed with an infrastructure manager search

Next steps for 5 Manager Searches
All searches will evaluate the managers adhérence to ESG 

8

Lifeworks will attempt to minimize costs given the number of searches.
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Implementation Decisions Requiring a Motion

The Asset Mix selected for both plans will be 25% fixed income/ 50% equities / 25 
% alts.

ESG Considerations will be taken into account when selecting all investment 
managers

Pooled funds will be selected

Active Management 

No Style Bias

Proceed with 5 Manager Searches and amend SIP&P to reflect new asset mix













9
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Appendix
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Suggested preliminary portfolios

Confidential, not for distribution. 11

Scenario Current Policy A B C D E F

Investment Current Policy
Improved 

Equity and FI 
portfolios

+20% Alts 
- 20% EQ

+20% Alts 
- 20% FI

+25% Alts 
- 10% EQ
- 15% FI

+30% Alts  
-15% EQ
- 15% FI

+ 10% EQ 
- 10% FI

Short-term 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Universe Bonds 37% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Canadian Core Plus 
Bonds

0% 40% 40% 20% 25% 25% 30%

Total – Fixed income 40% 40% 40% 20% 25% 25% 30%

Canadian Equities 20% 12% 8% 12% 10% 9% 14%

U.S. Equities (USD) 10% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

U.S. Equities (CAD) 10% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

International
Equities (CAD)

20% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Global Equity 0% 36% 24% 36% 30% 27% 42%
Emerging Markets 
Equity

0% 12% 8% 12% 10% 9% 14%

Total – Equities 60% 60% 40% 60% 50% 45% 70%

Global Real Estate 0% 0% 10% 10% 12.5% 15% 0%

Infrastructure 0% 0% 10% 10% 12.5% 15% 0%

Total – Alternatives 0% 0% 20% 20% 25% 30% 0%
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Depending on risk tolerance, spending 
could be increased

Scenario Current Policy D E

Sp
en

di
ng

 3
.5

% Purchasing Power Ratio (Year 10)
Median 99% 106% 105%
CTE 5% 70% 76% 77%
Prob > 100% 47% 62% 62%

Actual Cumulative Spending (Year 10)
Average 3.3% 3.4% 3.4%
CTE 5% 1.8% 2.3% 2.3%
Prob = target 66% 82% 84%

Sp
en

di
ng

 4
.0

% Purchasing Power Ratio (Year 10)
Median 96% 103% 102%
CTE 5% 69% 75% 75%
Prob > 100% 41% 56% 55%

Actual Cumulative Spending (Year 10)
Average 3.7% 3.8% 3.9%
CTE 5% 1.9% 2.5% 2.6%
Prob = target 61% 76% 79%

Sp
en

di
ng

 4
.5

% Purchasing Power Ratio (Year 10)
Median 94% 100% 99%
CTE 5% 68% 74% 74%
Prob > 100% 35% 50% 48%

Actual Cumulative Spending (Year 10)
Average 4.0% 4.3% 4.3%
CTE 5% 2.1% 2.6% 2.8%
Prob = target 53% 69% 72%

• With options D or E, 
spending target could 
be increased up to 
4.0%, and the spending 
objective would still be 
met in at least 75% of 
scenarios

• At a spending level of 
4.5%, purchasing 
power would not be 
maintained at the 
median and the 
spending objective 
would be met in less 
than 75% of scenarios 
for options D and E
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Better result (vs Current Policy)

Similar result (vs Current Policy)

Worse result (vs Current Policy)
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